
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: Tuesday, 3 August 2021 

TIME: 6.00 pm 

 

VENUE: Princes Theatre - Town Hall, Station 
Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor White (Chairman) 
Councillor Bray (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Alexander 
Councillor Baker 
Councillor Casey 
 

Councillor Codling 
Councillor Fowler 
Councillor Harris 
Councillor Placey 
 

 
  

Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for the 
public and press will be made available on a first come first served basis.  The 
meeting will normally be live streamed and the link to this is available at 
www.tendringdc.gov.uk/livemeetings. Those attending the meeting may 
therefore be filmed. After the meeting the recording of the live stream will 
normally be available using the same link.  

 
Agendas and Minutes are published on the Council's website 
www.tendringdc.gov.uk. Agendas are available to view five working days prior 
to the meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working 
days of the meeting. 

 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, or on 
disc, tape, or in other languages.  

 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting, contact Emma 
Haward on 01255 686007. 
 

 

 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Monday, 26 July 2021  

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/livemeetings&data=04%7C01%7Cehaward@tendringdc.gov.uk%7C492593306bf74947f5a908d94b7f3bc9%7C85a13c52693e4c39bdfa85c3a9047d15%7C0%7C0%7C637623832094079427%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C1000&sdata=jcYqyu6HVSjad0Wa6S0q84TomJcZbqagizNLqf3yFvI=&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/&data=04%7C01%7Cehaward@tendringdc.gov.uk%7C492593306bf74947f5a908d94b7f3bc9%7C85a13c52693e4c39bdfa85c3a9047d15%7C0%7C0%7C637623832094089393%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C1000&sdata=eABMkmC2EWVUx60CL0bZMJoxmez3K1wlqBu2+pFBhJY=&reserved=0


 
 



AGENDA 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

2 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 14) 
 
 To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee, 

held on 6 July 2021. 
  

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal 

Interest, and the nature of it, in relation to any item on the agenda. 
  

4 Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38  
 
 Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the 

Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of 
reference of the Committee. 
  

5 A.1 PLANNING APPLICATION 20/00547/OUT – HAMILTON LODGE, PARSONS HILL, 
GREAT BROMLEY, COLCHESTER CO7 7JB (Pages 15 - 64) 

 
 Hamilton Lodge is located south of, and well detached from, the village of Great Bromley 

and virtually immediately north of the A120, approximately 8 miles east of Colchester. It 
comprises 16 acres of buildings, hardstanding, grassland and parkland around an early 
20th Century house and more recently constructed care home/assisted living 
accommodation. 
 
The site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary in both the saved Tendring 
District Local Plan (2007) and the emerging Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and 
Beyond Publication Draft. 
  

6 A.2 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/00809/FUL – 102 NAYLAND DRIVE, CLACTON ON 
SEA CO16 8TZ (Pages 65 - 72) 

 
 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the applicant is Tendring District 

Council. 
 
The application involves a single storey ground floor rear extension to the existing 
dwellinghouse at 102 Nayland Drive which is inside the settlement boundary of Clacton. 
  

7 A.3 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/01028/FUL – 24 BAY VIEW CRESCENT, LITTLE 
OAKLEY, HARWICH CO12 5EG (Pages 73 - 80) 

 



 The application is before Members as an Ownership Certificate has been served on 
Tendring District Council as they own the freehold of the flats. 
 
The proposed extension will be located to the rear of the property and will be largely 
shielded from the streetscene by the existing dwelling. The extension is of a single storey 
nature and is considered to be of a size and scale appropriate to the existing dwelling 
with the application site retaining adequate private amenity space. The use of matching 
materials will blend the development with the host dwelling and is not thought to have any 
significant adverse effect on visual amenity. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Committee is to be held in the Princes 
Theatre - Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 1SE at 6.00 pm on 
Wednesday, 1 September 2021. 
 



Information for Visitors 
 
 
 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting.  In the event of an alarm sounding, please 
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the hall and follow the exit signs out of the 
building. 
 
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the 
building and direct you to the assembly point. 
 
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member 
of staff. 
 
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE, 
HELD ON TUESDAY, 6TH JULY, 2021 AT 6.00 PM 

IN THE PRINCES THEATRE - TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, 
CO15 1SE 

 
Present: Councillors White (Chairman), Bray (Vice-Chairman), Alexander, 

Baker, Casey, Clifton, Codling, Fowler and Harris 
 

Also Present: Tom Gardiner (Head of Economic Growth) and Hana Loftus (HAT 
Projects) 

In Attendance: Lisa Hastings (Deputy Chief Executive & Assistant Director 
(Governance) and Monitoring Officer), Gary Guiver (Acting Director 
(Planning)), Graham Nourse (Assistant Director (Planning)), Trevor 
Faulkner (Planning Manager), Joanne Fisher (Planning Solicitor), 
Keith Durran (Democratic Services Officer), Emma Haward 
(Leadership Support Assistant) and Matthew Cattermole 
(Communications Assistant). 

 
 

124. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Placey, with Councillor Clifton 
substituting. 
 

125. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray and seconded by Councillor Baker and RESOLVED 
that the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 8 June 2021 be approved 
as a correct record subject to the below amendment:- 
 

- To amend minute 122 to read ‘Ian Rollings’, a local resident, spoke against the 
application. 

 
126. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Bray declared a Personal Interest in relation to Planning Application 
21/00188/FUL – THE PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING 
FIELDS FRINTON ON SEA in that he was the local Ward Member on Frinton and 
Walton Town Council.  However, he informed the meeting that he was not pre-
determined and that therefore he would participate in the Committee’s consideration of 
this application. 
 
Councillor Casey declared a Personal Interest in relation to Planning Applications 
21/00871/FUL – LAND ADJACENT TO LOTUS WAY AND BROOKLANDS JAYWICK 
CO15 2JE and 21/00876/FUL – 4 MILLERS BARN ROAD JAYWICK CLACTON ON 
SEA CO15 2QA insofar as he was a Ward Member. 
 
Councillor Clifton declared an interest in Planning Application 21/00188/FUL – THE 
PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING FIELDS FRINTON ON SEA 
in that he was the Ward Member on Frinton and Walton Town Council for the 
neighbouring ward. He was not pre-determined.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

 
Councillor Harris declared a personal interest in Planning Application 21/00188/FUL – 
THE PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING FIELDS FRINTON ON 
SEA due to a personal involvement in a local sports team that used the Playing Fields.  
 

127. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 38  
 
There were none on this occasion. 
 

128. A.1 21-00871-FUL -  LAND ADJACENT TO LOTUS WAY AND BROOKLANDS, 
JAYWICK CO15 2JE  
 
Councillor Casey declared a Personal Interest in relation to Planning Applications 
21/00871/FUL – LAND ADJACENT TO LOTUS WAY AND BROOKLANDS JAYWICK 
CO15 2JE and 21/00876/FUL – 4 MILLERS BARN ROAD JAYWICK CLACTON ON 
SEA CO15 2QA insofar as he was a Ward Member. 
 
It was reported that the development applied for related to proposed business units, a 
covered market, a community garden, public WCs and associated public realm on land 
adjacent to Lotus Way and Brooklands, Jaywick. The application had been brought 
before the Planning Committee as the applicant was Tendring District Council itself. 
 
The Committee was advised that the site was located between the Brooklands and 
“Village” parts of Jaywick Sands, on the site of what was formerly the amusements and 
village centre of Jaywick Sands. The site was comprised of hardstanding on the central 
and eastern side of the site and scrubland at the western end. Brooklands, an un-
adopted road, ran along the southern boundary, and Lotus Way, an adopted road built 
in the early 2000s ran to the east of the site. 
 
Members were informed that the Saved Policy CL15a (Jaywick Regeneration) of the 
adopted Local Plan stated that: “To facilitate the phased redevelopment of the original 
Brooklands, Grasslands and Village area of Jaywick in accordance with the Jaywick 
Masterplan, the Council will allow residential and mixed-use development… on the Land 
west of Lotus Way and north of Brooklands (mixed-use on southern part of site).” 
Furthermore, Jaywick Sands  had been identified under emerging policy PPL4 (Priority 
Areas for Regeneration) as a priority for focused investment in social, economic and 
physical infrastructure and initiatives to improve vitality, environmental quality, social 
inclusion, economic prospects, education, health, community safety, accessibility and 
green infrastructure. 
 
Moreover, the proposed Covered Market and Managed Workspace development 
responded directly to the Corporate Priorities identified within the Council’s 2020-2024 
Corporate Plan and accorded with the Community Leadership and Tendring4Growth 
themes, which were central to that Plan. 
 
Taking into consideration the three strands of sustainability namely: economic, social 
and environmental considerations the development was considered by Officers to 
represent a sustainable development by: creating local job opportunities; improving 
Jaywick Sands’ reputation; and the visual appearance of a key site in the community, 
which would complement the other regeneration projects resulting in raising property 
values for both commercial and residential properties; improved public realm including 

Page 2



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

community garden and space for outdoor markets and other events; and improved 
walkability of the area and road safety. 
 
Members were advised that the application and supporting documents/surveys 
demonstrated that there would be no overriding harm which could not be mitigated in 
respect of flood risk, landscaping, ecology or highways considerations.  
 
Subject to the recommended conditions within section 8.2 of the Officer report and the 
completion of a legal agreement to secure contributions towards highway waiting 
restrictions and RAMS, the proposal was considered by Officers to be acceptable with 
no material harm to visual or residential amenity, ecology interests or highway safety, 
and the application had therefore been recommended by Officers for approval. 
 
The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning 
issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, 
written representations received and a recommendation of approval. 
 
At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council’s Planning Officer (TF) in 
respect of the application. 
 
An update sheet had been circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting with details 
of: 
 
(1) Additional Consultee Comments of Essex County Council SUDs Team as followed: 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority position 
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which 
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning 
permission based on the following conditions: 
 
Condition 1 
No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but 
not be limited to: 
 
• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme as the 
current drawing does not show pipes and manhole connections of the car parks. 
• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system. 
• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and 
proposed ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features. 
• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to 
the approved strategy. 
 
Reason 
• To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water 
from the site.• To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the 
development. 
• To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local 
water environment 

Page 3



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

• Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may 
result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water 
occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution 
hazard from the site. 
 
Condition 2 
Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements 
including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system 
and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and agreed, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. Should any part be maintainable by a 
maintenance company, details of long term funding arrangements should be provided. 
 
Reason 
• To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the 
surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood 
risk. 
• Failure to provide the above required information prior to occupation may result in the 
installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may increase flood risk or 
pollution hazard from the site. 
 
Condition 3 
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which 
should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. 
 
These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
(2) Amendment of Conditions in Section 8.2: 
 
In light of the comments received from ECC-SUDs Team (as above) the conditions 
recommended at Section 8.2 of the committee report are amended as followed; 
 

 Removal of Condition 19 and insertion of the conditions recommended above within the 
comments of ECC-SUDs. 

 
Tom Gardiner, Head of Economic Growth, acting on behalf of Tendring District Council, 
spoke in support of the application. 
 
Matters raised by a Committee 
Member:- 

Officer’s response thereto:- 

A Member of the Committee questioned 
the purpose of the five larger parking 
spaces. 

The Planning Officer confirmed that these 
were for larger vehicles and loading/delivery 
purposes only.  

A Member of the Committee asked if 
there were allocated parking spaces, 
and how would the car park be 
managed?  

The Planning Officer confirmed that parking 
would be monitored and regulated 
accordingly.  

What are the working practice hours of 
the site? 

Condition 17 and 18 states the hours open to 
the public. 

A Councillor asked how many spaces 
facilitate an electric charging point? 

The Planning Officer confirmed that electric 
charging points do form part of the 
development. Conditions 6.5 of the report 
suggests five parking spaces will facilitate 

Page 4



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

electric charging points.  
A Councillor asked the Planning Officer 
to clarify the opening hours of the 
premises. 

The Planning Officer referred Members to 
paragraph 6.43 of the report regarding the 
proposed, licensable opening hours whereby; 
Tendring District Council’s Licensing Team 
will enforce the relevant control measures.  

Can we have reassurance that 
ecological studies will be undertaken?  

The Planning Officer confirmed that 
conditions 6, 8 9 and 21 of the report refer to 
the Ecological Impact Assessments to be 
undertaken, specifically reptiles.  

Will there be sufficient LED lighting 
externally around the premises?  

In terms of further requirements, the 
development hopes to be as sustainable as 
possible. 

 
Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Alexander, 
seconded by Councillor Bray and unanimously RESOLVED that the Assistant Director 
(Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission 
for the development, subject to: 
 
a) Within 6 (six) months of the date of the Committee’s resolution to approve, the 
completion of a legal agreement under the provisions of section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 dealing with the following matters (where relevant):  
• Financial Contribution towards RAMS 
• ECC-Highways Contribution towards the introduction of any future parking restriction 
scheme for the surrounding roads and/or at the junction to the site and junction with 
Lotus Way/ Brooklands/ Tamarisk Way. 
 
b) the following Planning Conditions (and Reasons): 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: - 182_HAT_PL_100 Revision P1 (Block Plan) - 
182_HAT_PL_110 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan) - 182_HAT_PL_111 (Proposed First 
Floor and Roof Plan) - 182_HAT_PL_120 (Proposed Streetscene) - 182_HAT_PL_121 
(Proposed East and South Elevations) - 182_HAT_PL_122 (Proposed West and North 
Elevations) - 182_HAT_PL_130 (Proposed Sections)  
 
Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, a detailed scheme of hard 
and soft landscaping works for the site (aside from the community garden) shall be 
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall include any proposed changes in ground levels and also accurately identify 
spread, girth and species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and 
indicate any to be retained, together with measures for their protection which shall 
comply with the recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication 
"BS 5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 

Page 5



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

 
Reason - To enhance the visual impact of the proposed works. 
 
4. All changes in ground levels, hard landscaping, planting, seeding or turfing shown on 
the approved landscaping details shall be carried out during the first planting and 
seeding season (October - March inclusive) following the commencement of the 
development or in such other phased arrangement as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years of being 
planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or seriously diseased shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.  
 
Reason -To enhance the visual impact of the proposed works.  
 
5. Prior to the commencement of works to the community garden a detailed scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping works for this aspect of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
any proposed changes in ground levels and also accurately identify spread, girth and 
species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and indicate any to be 
retained, together with measures for their protection which shall comply with the 
recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication "BS 5837: 2012 
Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. Any trees or shrubs which, 
within a period of 5 years of being planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or 
seriously diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species.  
 
Reason – To enhance the visual amenity of the proposed works.  
 
6. All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Impact Assessment (Woodfield 
Ecology, May 2020) and the Reptile Mitigation Strategy (Woodfield Ecology, March 
2021) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the 
local planning authority prior to determination. This may include the appointment of an 
appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-
site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed person shall undertake all 
activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason - To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC 
Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).  
 
7. A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP 
(Biodiversity) shall include the following: 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).  
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.  
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 
oversee works.  

Page 6



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person.  
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
i) Containment, control and removal of any Invasive non-native species present on site 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason - To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its 
duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 
(Priority habitats & species).  
 
8. A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the 
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:  
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;  
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;  
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;  
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;  
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). The works 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in 
that manner thereafter.”  
 
Reason - To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 
9. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The Plan shall provide for: - the parking of vehicles of site 
operatives and visitors - loading and unloading of plant and materials - storage of plant 
and materials used in constructing the development - wheel and underbody washing 
facilities - details of construction noise mitigation methods (including for any proposed 
piling) - dust suppression techniques - details of a waste/demolition removal 
management plan. 
  
Reason - To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets does 
not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto the 
highway in the interests of highway safety.  
 
10. The opening of the development shall not take place until the following have been 
provided or completed:  
a) A priority junction off Lotus Way to provide access to the proposal site with Kerb radii 
measuring a minimum of 8 metres with a 2 metre-wide footway provide around each 
kerb radii and extended to the nearest crossing point and provided with appropriate drop 
kerb/ tactile paving.  
b) The access road which shall have a minimum width of 6.75 metres for the first 15 
metres.  
c) Improvements to footway to an affective width of 2 metres across the entire site 
frontage with Lotus Way.  

Page 7



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

d) Where possible provision of pedestrian drop kerb at appropriate crossing point(s) 
from the District Council Car Park off Tamarisk Way to the main site entrance including 
the provision of appropriate tactile paving.  
e) To current Essex County Council specification, the upgrade of the two closest bus 
stops or provide a new stop(s) which would best serve the proposed site (details shall 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the 
development).  
f) Appropriate vehicle visibility splays in accordance with current policy standards.  
 
Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and to make adequate provision 
within the highway for the movement and safety of the additional pedestrian traffic 
generated as a result of the proposed development.  
 
11. There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway.  
 
Reason - To prevent hazards caused by water flowing onto the highway and to avoid 
the formation of ice on the highway in the interest of highway safety.  
 
12. The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle 
parking areas indicated on the approved plans, including any parking spaces for the 
mobility impaired, has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays. The 
vehicle parking areas and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at all 
times. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of 
vehicles that are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason - To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not 
occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking. 
 
13. The Cycle/Powered Two-wheeler parking shall be provided in accordance with the 
EPOA Parking Standards prior to the first use of the development. The approved 
facilities shall be secure, convenient, covered and provided prior to occupation and 
retained at all times.  
 
Reason - To ensure appropriate cycle/powered two-wheeler parking is provided in the 
interest of highway safety.  
 
14. The barrier provided at the vehicular access shall be set back a minimum of 15 
metres from the back edge of the footway/cycleway or where no provision of 
footway/cycleway is present the carriageway, in perpetuity.  
 
Reason - To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway whilst 
the barrier is being opened and closed and to allow parking off street and clear from 
obstructing the adjacent footway/cycleway/carriageway in the interest of highway safety.  
 
15. Prior to the commencement of development, details of the estate roads and 
footways (including layout, levels, gradients, surfacing and means of surface water 
drainage and any lighting requirements) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason - To ensure that roads and footways are constructed to an acceptable standard, 
in the interests of highway safety.  

Page 8



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

 
16. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a 
programme of archaeological and geoarchaeological investigation has been secured in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the 
applicant, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. No development or 
preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the completion of the 
programme of archaeological investigation identified in the WSI defined in 1 above. The 
applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation assessment (to be 
submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed 
in advance with the Planning Authority). This will result in the completion of post 
excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at 
the local museum, and submission of a publication report.  
 
Reason – To protect potential archaeological and geo-archaeological heritage assets.  
 
17. The hereby approved units shall only be open to the public between the following 
hours; 7am – 9pm (All week).  
 
Reason – To protect local amenity? 
 
18. The hereby approved events area shall only be used for events between the 
following hours; 7am – 11pm (All week).  
 
Reason – To protect local amenity? 
 
19. No development shall take place until a drainage strategy and associated detailed 
design, management and maintenance plan of surface water drainage for the site using 
SuDS methods has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved Sustainable Drainage Strategy prior to the use of the building commencing 
and maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason - To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of a 
satisfactory means of surface water disposal is incorporated into the design and the 
build and that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal 
and maintained for the lifetime of the proposal.  
 
20. Prior to the first use/occupation of the development a Flood Warning & Evacuation 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Flood Warning Evacuation Plan shall remain in force for the duration of the lifetime of 
the development and shall remain a live document and be updated where required.  
 
Reason - The site lies within flood zones 3 and a detailed evacuation plan is essential to 
safeguard occupiers of the development.  
 
21. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the recommendations 
contained within the submitted ‘Site Investigation Report’ (as prepared by Soil 
Consultants – Report Reference 10607/JRCB). This includes the submission of the 
following details prior to commencement; - Details of the proposed gas protection 
measures, evidencing gas levels are reduced to acceptable levels; - Soil samples taken 
at the proposed community garden, in order to identify any potential contamination and 
any necessary remedial measures if required; and - Details of a watching brief during 

Page 9



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

the groundworks to ensure that any potential contaminated soil encountered is disposed 
of in a safe and controlled manner. These details shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority and approved, in writing, prior to the commencement of works. The 
approved details shall then be adhered to during the construction phase.  
 
Reason – To safeguard against potential contaminates on site. 
 
Additional conditions:- 
 
Condition 10 to be amended to remove ‘where possible’ from clause d; 
 
No external lighting shall be installed until details of an illumination scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall 
only be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason – in the interests of amenity to reduce the impact of night time illumination on 
the character of the area and to ensure that the development employs energy efficient 
measures. 
 
Prior to the occupation/first use of any of the proposed development five double car 
charging points are to be provided and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason – to ensure a satisfactory development in terms of supporting sustainable 
means of transportation. 
 

129. A.2  21/00188/FUL – THE PAVILION RECREATION GROUND, FRINTON PLAYING 
FIELDS, FRINTON ON SEA  
 
Councillor Bray declared a Personal Interest in relation to Planning Application 
21/00188/FUL – THE PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING 
FIELDS FRINTON ON SEA in that he was the local Ward Member on Frinton and 
Walton Town Council.  However, he informed the meeting that he was not pre-
determined and that therefore he would participate in the Committee’s consideration of 
this application. 
 
Councillor Clifton declared an interest in Planning Application 21/00188/FUL – THE 
PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING FIELDS FRINTON ON SEA 
in that he was the Ward Member on Frinton and Walton Town Council for the 
neighbouring ward. He was not pre-determined.  
 
Councillor Harris declared a personal interest in Planning Application 21/00188/FUL – 
THE PAVILION RECREATION GROUND FRINTON PLAYING FIELDS FRINTON ON 
SEA due to a personal involvement in a local sports team that used the Playing Fields.  
 
It was reported that this application was before Members as Tendring District Council 
was the land owner. 
 
The Committee was informed that the proposal involved the renovation of the existing 
Pavilion building and the construction of an outside terrace area. The proposal would 
improve the facilities available, supporting the Frinton and Walton Football Club and the 
wider community. 
 

Page 10



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

The proposals were considered by Officers to be of a size, scale and design in keeping 
with the existing building and there were no concerns raised regarding the impact on the 
neighbouring residential properties in Herongate, given the existing use of the site. 
 
The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning 
issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, 
written representations received and a recommendation of approval. 
 
At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council’s Planning Officer (TF) in 
respect of the application. 
 
Matters raised by a Committee 
Member:- 

Officer’s response thereto:- 

A Member of the Committee asked to 
clarify if this is Council-owned land. 

The Planning Officer confirmed that it is 
Council-owned land and let out to Frinton 
Football Club.   

A Councillor asked whether the 
refurbishment was being carried out to 
modern sustainable standards.  

The Planning Officer responded and 
confirmed that in terms of internal layout, 
the refurbishment is limited. In terms of 
what is being proposed, the terraced area 
will be built using sustainable materials 
and specifications.  

 
Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Baker, seconded by 
Councillor Bray and unanimously RESOLVED that the  Assistant Director (Planning) (or 
equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the 
development, subject to the following planning conditions: 
 
Conditions and Reasons: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved drawings:  
2008/00 Site Layout Plan  
2008/02A Proposed Elevations and Floor Plans 
 
Reason – For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. No vehicle connected with the construction works shall arrive on site before 07:30 or 
leave after 19:00 (except in the case of emergency) unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason – In the interests of residential amenity in terms of restricting noise and 
disturbance during the construction phase. 
 
4. Construction working hours shall be restricted to between 08:00 and 18:00 Mondays 
to Saturdays (finishing at 13:00 on Saturdays) with no working of any kind permitted on 

Page 11



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

Sundays or any Public/Bank Holiday unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
 
Reason – In the interest of residential amenity in terms of restricting noise and 
disturbance during the construction phase. 
 
5. No materials produced as a result of the site development or clearance shall be 
burned on site.  
 
Reason – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
6. Any external lighting on the proposed development shall be located, designed and 
directed [or screened] so that it does not cause any unavoidable intrusion to 
neighbouring residential properties. Any such lighting shall comply with the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals code of practice (www.theilp.org.uk). 
 
Reason – In the interests of amenity to reduce the impact of night time illumination on 
the character of the area and residential amenity more generally. 
 

130. A.3 21-00876-FUL -  4 MILLERS BARN ROAD, JAYWICK, CLACTON ON SEA CO15 
2QA  
 
Councillor Casey declared a Personal Interest in relation to Planning Applications 
21/00871/FUL – LAND ADJACENT TO LOTUS WAY AND BROOKLANDS JAYWICK 
CO15 2JE and 21/00876/FUL – 4 MILLERS BARN ROAD JAYWICK CLACTON ON 
SEA CO15 2QA insofar as he was a Ward Member. 
 
It was reported that this application was before Members as the applicant was a 
member of the Council’s staff. 
 
The Committee was informed that the proposed extension would be located to the rear 
of the property and would be shielded from the street scene by the existing dwelling. 
The extension was of a single storey nature and was considered by Officers to be of a 
size and scale in keeping with the existing dwelling with the application site retaining 
adequate private amenity space. The proposed extension would be finished in matching 
materials to that of the existing dwelling and was not considered therefore to have any 
significant adverse effects on the visual amenities of the area. 
 
Members were further informed that the proposed rear extension would not result in any 
significant loss of light nor privacy to the adjacent neighbours and was therefore 
considered to be acceptable in terms of residential amenities. 
 
The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning 
issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, 
written representations received and a recommendation of approval. 
 
At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council’s Planning Officer (TF) in 
respect of the application. 
 
Matters raised by a Committee 
Member:- 

Officer’s response thereto:- 

A Member of the Committee asked if it The Planning Officer confirmed that this 

Page 12



 Planning Committee 
 

6 July 2021  

 

were not a member of staff’s application, 
would it have been dealt with under 
delegated powers? 

was correct. 

 
Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by 
Councillor Alexander and unanimously RESOLVED that the  Assistant Director 
(Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission 
for the development, subject to the following planning conditions: 
 
Conditions and Reasons: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason – To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: Drawing Number 01 
 
Reason – For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

131. PROVISIONAL MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE  
 
The Chairman informed Committee Members that the provisional meeting of the 
Planning Committee scheduled to take place on Tuesday, 20 July 2021 was hereby 
cancelled on his authority due to an insufficient number of applications available to be 
determined. 
  

 The meeting was declared closed at 8.05 pm  
  

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

3rd August 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING 
 

A.1 PLANNING APPLICATION – 20/00547/OUT – HAMILTON LODGE PARSONS HILL 
GREAT BROMLEY COLCHESTER CO7 7JB 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s 

Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 

 

 
 

 Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 
Application: 20/00547/OUT Town / Parish: Great Bromley Parish Council 

 
Applicant: Daniel Rapson - Colchester Development Ltd 

 
Address: Hamilton Lodge Parsons Hill Great Bromley CO7 7JB  

 
 

Development: Hybrid Application for Outline application for residential development 
including: 67 dwellings including up to 30% as affordable housing and all 
necessary access roads (Outline), All associated amenity space, 
landscaping, parking, servicing, utilities, footpath and cycle links, on-site 
drainage, and infrastructure works including gas and electricity apparatus 
(Outline), Residential development for 12 dwellings (Use Class C3) and 
associated access roads including formation of new junction to Parsons Hill 
(Detail), Formal and informal open space including village green and 
meadow (Use Class D2) including landscaping, parking, servicing, utilities, 
footpath links (Detail). 

 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 Hamilton Lodge is located south of, and well detached from, the village of Great Bromley and 

virtually immediately north of the A120, approximately 8 miles east of Colchester. It comprises 
16 acres of buildings, hardstanding, grassland and parkland around an early 20th Century 
house and more recently constructed care home/assisted living accommodation. The site is 
located outside of any defined settlement boundary in both the saved Tendring District Local 
Plan (2007) and the emerging Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication 
Draft. 

 
1.2 This application seeks planning permission for 79 residential units on the site which 

incorporates the renovation and conversion of Hamilton Lodge, The Stable Block and Walled 
Garden elements.  The application has been submitted in a hybrid format (i.e. part outline/part 
detail application) and proposes the following; 

 
- 67 dwellings including the conversion of Hamilton Lodge, The Stable Block and Walled 

Garden and all associated access roads, amenity space, landscaping, parking, servicing, 
utilities, footpath and cycle links, on-site drainage, and infrastructure works including gas 
and electricity apparatus (Submitted in Outline Form); 

 
- Residential development for 12 dwellings and associated access roads including formation 

of new junction to Parsons Hill (Submitted in Detail Form);  
 

- Formal and informal open space including village green and meadow including 
landscaping, parking, servicing, utilities, footpath links (Submitted in Detail Form). 

 
1.3 It is acknowledged that the site is brownfield in nature and attracted a certain level of traffic 

movements under its former care home use, but even taking this into account, it is considered 
that the proposal for 79 dwellings in this unsustainable and unsuitable location outside of any 
defined settlement boundary runs contrary to the objectives of adopted Policy SP3 and is of a 
wholly inappropriate scale, in a countryside location clearly detached from the nearest  
settlement of Great Bromley, which is identified as a smaller rural settlement under emerging 
policy SPL1.   

 
1.4 Notwithstanding the clear conflict with established housing settlement policies outlined above it 

is acknowledged by officers that the development does provide some benefits which can be 
weighed up against the harm identified. These benefits include; 

 
Page 16



- The re-development of a brownfield site; 
- The conversion and safeguarding of non-designated heritage assets present on the site; 
- Provision of a ‘village green’ area, to be maintained by the parish council, which will open 

up public access to the site;  
- Provision of 30% on-site affordable housing and policy compliant infrastructure 

contributions; 
- Notwithstanding the lack of a sustained and robust marketing campaign to demonstrate 

that the site is not in demand for alternative employment uses, the development represents 
a viable solution for the future of the site 

 
1.5 Overall, the proposal’s benefits are modest. The National Planning Policy Framework places 

emphasis on managing patterns of growth to support objectives which include opportunities to 
promote walking, cycling and public transport use, and mitigating any adverse environmental 
impacts of traffic. 

 
1.6 Development in rural areas is not precluded but the Framework indicates that significant 

weight should be given to the benefits of using suitable sites within settlements for homes and 
therefore supports the general thrust of the local plan in terms of location of new housing. 

 
1.7 Consequently, the clear conflict with, and the adverse impacts on the Councils overarching 

housing strategy, as well as the increasing travel by private motorised transport would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole. The proposal would conflict with the 
development plan as a whole, lead to the loss of a site which has a lawful commercial use, and 
there are no other considerations including the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which outweigh this finding. 

 
1.8 The applicant has confirmed a willingness to enter into a legal agreement to secure the policy 

required open space, education, affordable housing and RAMS obligations. However, as the 
application is recommended for refusal on principle grounds a legal agreement has not been 
completed and therefore the lack of a mechanism to secure these obligations also is included 
as a reason for refusal.  

 
  
Recommendation: 
    

That the Head of Planning be authorised to refuse planning permission for the development 
for the reasons set out within section 8.1 of the report. 

 

 
2. Planning Policy 

 

 The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 

This planning application was first submitted when the NPPF - National Planning Policy 
Framework February 2019 was in place. During the LPA assessment phase of the development 
proposals, a revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) was 
published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) with 
revisions to both the NPPF and National Model Design Guide (NMDG), following consultation in 
January 2021. Among the key changes to the NPPF are updated policies aiming to improve the 
design of new developments, in response to the findings of the government's Building Better, 
Building Beautiful Commission.  Due regard is given to both the NPPF 2019 as well as the NPPF 
2021 (collectively referred to as the ‘NPPF’ in the remainder of this report) and as part of the 
assessment of this planning application. 

 
 
 

Page 17



 National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
 Tendring District Local Plan 2007 
  
 QL2   Promoting Transport Choice 
 
 QL3   Minimising and Managing Flood Risk 
 
 QL11  Environmental Impacts and Compatibility of Uses 
 
 QL12  Planning Obligations 
 
 ER3  Protection of Employment Land 
 
 HG4   Affordable Housing in New Developments 
 
 HG7   Residential Densities 
 
 HG9  Private Amenity Space  
 
 COM1  Access for All 
 
 COM2  Community Safety 
 
 COM6  Provision of Recreational Open Space for New Residential Development 
 
 COM21  Light Pollution 
 
 COM22  Noise Pollution 
 
 COM23  General Pollution 
 
 COM26  Contributions to Education Provision 
 
 COM29  Utilities 
 
 COM31A  Sewerage and Sewage Disposal 
 
 EN1   Landscape Character 
 
 EN6   Biodiversity 
 
 EN6A  Protected Species 
 
 EN6B  Habitat Creation 
 
 EN11A  Protection of International Sites European Sites and RAMSAR Sites 
 
 EN11B  Protection of National Sites SSSI's, National Nature Reserves, Nature Conservation 

Review Sites, Geological Conservation Review Sites 
 
 EN11C  Protection of Local Sites: Local Nature Reserves, County Wildlife Sites, Regionally 

Important Geological/Geomorphological Sites 
 
 EN12  Design and Access Statements 
 
 EN13  Sustainable Drainage Systems 

Page 18



 
 EN29    Archaeology 
 
 TR1A  Development Affecting Highways 
 
 TR1   Transport Assessment 
 
 TR3A  Provision for Walking 
 
 TR4   Safeguarding and Improving Public Rights of Way 
  
 TR5   Provision for Cycling 
 
 TR7   Vehicle Parking at New Development 
 
 Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft (June 2017) 
 
 Section 1: North Essex Authorities’ Shared Strategic Section 1 Plan, adopted January 2021 
 
 SP1   Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 
 SP2  RAMS 
 
 SP4   Meeting Housing Needs 
 
 SP6   Infrastructure & Connectivity 
 
 SP7   Place Shaping Principles 
 
 Section 2: Emerging 
 
 SPL1  Managing Growth 
 
 SPL2 Settlement Development Boundaries 
 
 SPL3  Sustainable Design 
 
 HP5   Open Space, Sports & Recreation Facilities 
 
 LP1   Housing Supply 
 
 LP2   Housing Choice 
 
 LP3   Housing Density and Standards 
 
 LP4   Housing Layout 
 
 LP5   Affordable and Council Housing 
 
 PP6  Employment Sites 
 
 PPL1  Development and Flood Risk 
 
 PPL3  The Rural Landscape 
 
 PPL4  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 

Page 19



 PPL5  Water Conservation, Drainage and Sewerage 
 
 CP1   Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
 
 CP2   Improving the Transport Network 
 
 DI1  Infrastructure Delivery and Impact Mitigation 
 
Local Planning Guidance 
 
Essex Design Guide 
 
Essex County Council Car Parking Standards - Design and Good Practice 
 
Status of the Local Plan 

 
Planning law requires that decisions on planning applications must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 70(2) of 
the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). This is set out in Paragraph 2 of the Framework. 
 
The ‘development plan’ for Tendring comprises, in part, the ‘Saved’ policies of the 2007 Local Plan. 
Paragraph 213 of the Framework allows local planning authorities to give due weight to policies 
adopted prior to its publication, according to their degree of consistency with the policies in the 
Framework. On the 26th January 2021 Section 1 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan was adopted and 
therefore now also forms part of the ‘development plan’ for Tendring, superseding some of the 
more strategic policies in the 2007 Local Plan. Notably, the housing and employment targets have 
been found sound, including the housing requirement of 550 dwellings per annum. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the Framework allows weight to be given to policies in emerging plans according 
to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies, and the degree of consistency with national planning policy. In this regard, ‘Proposed 
Modifications’ to Section 2 of the 2013-33 Local Plan, which contains more specific policies and 
proposals for Tendring, has been examined and hearing sessions have now closed. The main 
modifications recommended to make the plan legally compliant and sound were considered at the 
Council’s Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee on 29th June 2021. A six-week public 
consultation began on the 16th July 2021, and will close on 31st August 2021. Adoption is expected 
in late 2021. Section 2 will then join Section 1 as part of the development plan superseding in full 
the 2007 Local Plan. Part 2 of the 2013-33 Local Plan is therefore at a very advanced stage of 
preparation and should therefore be afforded considerable weight. 
 
In relation to housing supply:  
 
The Framework requires Councils boost significantly the supply of housing to meet objectively 
assessed future housing needs in full. In any one year, Councils must be able to identify five years’ 
worth of deliverable housing land against their projected housing requirements (plus an appropriate 
buffer to ensure choice and competition in the market for land, to account for any fluctuations in the 
market or to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply). If this is not possible, or if 
housing delivery over the previous three years has been substantially below (less than 75%) the 
housing requirement, the ‘tilted balance’ at paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the Framework requires 
applications for housing development be granted permission unless any adverse impacts of doing 
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies 
in the Framework taken as a whole. 
 
With the adoption of Section 1 of the 2013-33 Local Plan the Council’s ‘Objectively Assessed 
housing Need’ of 550 dwellings per annum has been found ‘sound’ and there is no housing 
shortfall. The Council is able to report a significant surplus of housing land supply over the 5 year 

Page 20



requirement, in the order of 6.5 years, and the titled balance at paragraph 11 d) ii) of the 
Framework does not therefore apply. 
 

3. Relevant Planning History 

   
99/00737/FUL Demolition of existing coach house, 

Springlands and other outbuildings, 
and the construction of 5 no. 8 
person residential units of 
accommodation for persons with 
learning difficulties 

Approved 
 

07.07.1999 

 
05/01468/FUL Single storey extension to existing 

building 
Approved 
 

10.10.2005 

 
07/01250/FUL Demolition of 4 buildings and 

erection of 4 detached bungalows for 
residential care purposes (Class 
C2). 

Approved 
 

14.11.2007 

 
10/00034/FUL Alteration and extension of existing 

residential home (Selbourne Court); 
Development of four bungalow units 
to provide self contained one person 
studio flats, four per bungalow. 

Approved 
 

15.03.2010 

 
14/01560/FUL Proposed 8 new supported living 

apartments, staff office, car park and 
landscaping and demolition of 
existing lean-to store and wall to 
make way new access driveway. 

Approved 
 

19.12.2014 

 
20/00547/OUT Hybrid Application for Outline 

application for residential 
development including: 67 dwellings 
including up to 30% as affordable 
housing and all necessary access 
roads (Outline), All associated 
amenity space, landscaping, 
parking, servicing, utilities, footpath 
and cycle links, on-site drainage, 
and infrastructure works including 
gas and electricity apparatus 
(Outline), Residential development 
for 12 dwellings (Use Class C3) and 
associated access roads including 
formation of new junction to Parsons 
Hill (Detail), Formal and informal 
open space including village green 
and meadow (Use Class D2) 
including landscaping, parking, 
servicing, utilities, footpath links 
(Detail). 

Current 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



4. Consultations 

  
Anglian Water Services Ltd 
02.02.2021 

ASSETS  
 
Section 1 - Assets Affected 
  
Our records show that there are no assets owned by 
Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption agreement 
within the development site boundary. 
  
WASTEWATER SERVICES 
  
Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment 
  
The foul drainage from this development is in the 
catchment of Great Bromley Water Recycling Centre that 
will have available capacity for these flows 
  
Section 3 - Used Water Network 
  
This response has been based on the following 
submitted documents: Drainage Assessment.  
 
The sewerage system at present has available capacity 
for these flows. If the developer wishes to connect to our 
sewerage network they should serve notice under 
Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. We will then 
advise them of the most suitable point of connection. (1) 
INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect to 
the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act 
Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, 
under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact 
Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. (2) 
INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect to 
the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act 
Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, 
under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact 
Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. (3) 
INFORMATIVE - Protection of existing assets - A public 
sewer is shown on record plans within the land identified 
for the proposed development. It appears that 
development proposals will affect existing public sewers. 
It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian 
Water Development Services Team for further advice on 
this matter. Building over existing public sewers will not 
be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water. (4) 
INFORMATIVE - Building near to a public sewer - No 
building will be permitted within the statutory easement 
width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement 
from Anglian Water. Please contact Development 
Services Team on 0345 606 6087. (5) INFORMATIVE: 
The developer should note that the site drainage details 
submitted have not been approved for the purposes of 
adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian 
Water (under Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 
1991), they should contact our Development Services 
Page 22



Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. 
Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and 
constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption 
guide for developers, as supplemented by Anglian 
Water's requirements. 
  
Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal 
  
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be 
to a sustainable drainage system (SuDS) with connection 
to sewer seen as the last option. Building Regulations 
(part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England 
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with 
infiltration on site as the preferred disposal option, 
followed by discharge to watercourse and then 
connection to a sewer. 
  
From the details submitted to support the planning 
application the proposed method of surface water 
management does not relate to Anglian Water operated 
assets. As such, we are unable to provide comments on 
the suitability of the surface water management. The 
Local Planning Authority should seek the advice of the 
Lead Local Flood Authority or the Internal Drainage 
Board. The Environment Agency should be consulted if 
the drainage system directly or indirectly involves the 
discharge of water into a watercourse. Should the 
proposed method of surface water management change 
to include interaction with Anglian Water operated 
assets, we would wish to be re-consulted to ensure that 
an effective surface water drainage strategy is prepared 
and implemented. 
 

TDC Building Control and Access 
Officer 
19.01.2021 
 

No adverse comments at this time 
 

Essex County Council Archaeology 
19.01.2021 

The following advice follows updated information that the 
historic assets identified in the planning application will 
no longer be demolished. The existing buildings have 
been identified as non-designated heritage assets and if 
conversion or demolition is required then a historic 
building record will need to be completed. 
  
The development site lies within an area of 
archaeological potential, evidence for medieval 
settlement has been revealed beyond the northwest 
boundary of the site, the quality of the floor tiles 
recovered suggest a domestic or religious building of 
high status within the vicinity dating to the 14th century. 
Along the former eastern boundary evidence for a 
medieval pottery kiln was recovered. Cropmark evidence 
for further archaeological activity lies within the 
surrounding area and find spots dating from the Roman 
to post-medieval period surround the site. The site itself 
contains extant historic garden and landscape features 
associated with the estate which will also be disturbed or 

Page 23



destroyed in the groundworks associated with the 
development. 
  
The following recommendation is made in line with the 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
  
Recommendation: Historic building recording and 
archaeological evaluation 
  
No demolition or conversion of any kind shall take place 
until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 
programme of historic building recording in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant, and approved by the planning 
authority. 
  
The applicant will submit to the local planning authority 
an approved historic building report (to be submitted 
within six months of the completion of fieldwork, unless 
otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning 
Authority). 
  
No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind 
shall take place until a programme of archaeological 
investigation has been secured in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant, and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 
  
No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind 
shall take place until the completion of the programme of 
archaeological investigation identified in the WSI defined 
in 1 above. 
  
The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a 
post excavation assessment (to be submitted within six 
months of the completion of the fieldwork, unless 
otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning 
Authority). This will result in the completion of post 
excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and 
report ready for deposition at the local museum, and 
submission of a publication report. 
  
A professional historic building specialist and 
archaeological contractor should undertake any 
fieldwork. A g brief detailing the requirements can be 
produced from this office. The District Council should 
inform the applicant of the recommendation and its 
financial implications. 
 

Essex County Council Ecology 
27.01.2021 

No objection subject to securing: 
a) a proportionate financial contribution towards effective 
visitor management measures in line with Essex Coast 
RAMS; and 
b) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures 
  
Summary 
Page 24



ECC Ecology have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal (SES, November 2019), the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (SES, October 2020) and the Concept 
Masterplan (Grafik Architecture, November 2020) relating 
to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, 
protected species and Priority species & habitats. 
  
ECC Ecology are satisfied that there is sufficient 
ecological information available for determination. 
  
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts 
on protected and Priority species & habitats and, with 
appropriate mitigation measures secured, the 
development can be made acceptable. 
  
The mitigation measures identified in the Ecological 
Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) should be 
secured and implemented in full. This is necessary to 
conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. 
  
ECC Ecology note that this application will require the 
LPA to prepare a project level HRA Appropriate 
Assessment as the development lies within the Zone of 
Influence (ZOI) for the Essex Coast RAMS, 
approximately 10km from Hamford Water SAC, SPA and 
Ramsar. Delivery of mitigation measures in perpetuity will 
therefore be necessary to ensure that this proposal will 
not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the above 
Habitats sites from recreational disturbance, when 
considered 'in combination' with other plans and projects. 
A proportionate financial contribution will need to be 
secured from the applicant under a legal agreement. 
  
ECC Ecology note from the Concept Masterplan (Grafik 
Architecture, November 2020) that Hamilton Lodge will 
be retained and converted. As concluded in the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) the 
site supports six pipistrelle bat days roosts in buildings, 
two pipistrelle bat days roosts in trees, two Brown Long-
eared (BLE) hibernation roosts in buildings, a BLE day 
roost in a building and a BLE maternity roost which was 
not used during the 2020 maternity season. Therefore, 
the development will require a European Protected 
Species (EPS) licence for the demolition/conversion of 
the buildings and removal of trees on site which support 
roosting bats. In line with Natural England's licensing 
policy 4, ECC Ecology are satisfied that further bat 
surveys will be needed to support the licence and they 
recommend that the LPA secures a copy of the EPS 
mitigation licence for bats by a condition of any consent. 
  
ECC Ecology recommend that all the mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed in 
Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, 
October 2020) are secured by a condition of any consent 
and implemented in full for both full and outline elements 
of the development. This will also include soft felling 

Page 25



techniques and mitigation measures for the trees on site 
assessed as having bat roost potential, but with no 
roosts identified. 
  
ECC Ecology also note that the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (SES, October 2020) identifies that Hazel 
Dormice are present onsite, and an EPS mitigation 
licence for this species will also be required from Natural 
England prior to any vegetation clearance. They also 
recommend that the LPA secures a copy of the EPS 
mitigation licence for Hazel dormice by a condition of any 
consent. 
  
The Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) 
also identifies that a 'moderate' population of Common 
Lizards has been identified onsite. Section 6 of the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) 
identifies suitable outline mitigation and enhancement 
measures for this species. The final mitigation, 
translocation and enhancement measures should be 
included in a Reptile Mitigation Strategy to be secured as 
a condition of any consent. 
  
ECC Ecology also support the proposed reasonable 
biodiversity enhancements, which have been 
recommended to secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019. We note that 
Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, 
October 2020) and that identifies the biodiversity 
enhancement measures proposed for the detailed part of 
this hybrid application including the locations in the 
Proposed Mitigation and Enhancement Plan. However, 
the confirmed details for the outline elements of this 
application should be included within a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy and should be secured as a 
condition of any consent for discharge at Reserved 
Matters stage. 
  
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with 
its statutory duties including its biodiversity duty under 
s40 NERC Act 2006. 
  
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is 
acceptable subject to the conditions below based on 
BS42020:2013. 
  
Submission for approval and implementation of the 
details below should be a condition of any planning 
consent. 
  
Recommended conditions for the Full element of the 
application: 
  
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
"All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works 
Page 26



shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
contained in Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (SES, October 2020) as already submitted 
with the planning application and agreed in principle with 
the local planning authority prior to determination. 
  
This may include the appointment of an appropriately 
competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works 
(ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during 
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all 
activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance 
with the approved details." 
  
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and 
Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC 
Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
  
2. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: SUBMISSION OF A 
COPY OF THE EPS LICENCE FOR BATS 
"The following works to demolish/convert the buildings 
onsite shall not in in any circumstances commence 
unless the local planning authority has been provided 
with either: 
 
a) a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to 
Regulation 55 of The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorizing the 
specified activity/development to go ahead; or 
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body 
to the effect that it does not consider that the specified 
activity/development will require a licence." 
  
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and 
allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as 
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 and s17 Crime 
& Disorder Act 1998. 
  
3. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: SUBMISSION OF A 
COPY OF THE EPS LICENCE FOR HAZEL DORMICE 
"The works shall not in in any circumstances commence 
unless the local planning authority has been provided 
with either: 
 
a) a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to 
Regulation 55 of The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorizing the 
specified activity/development to go ahead; or 
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body 
to the effect that it does not consider that the specified 
activity/development will require a licence." 
  
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and 

Page 27



allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as 
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 and s17 Crime 
& Disorder Act 1998. 
  
4. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: REPTILE 
MITIGATION STRATEGY 
"No development shall take place until a Reptile 
Mitigation Strategy addressing the final mitigation and 
translocation of reptiles has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
  
The Reptile Mitigation Strategy shall include the 
following. 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed 
works. 
b) Review of site potential and constraints. 
c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to 
achieve stated objectives. 
d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on 
appropriate scale maps and plans. 
e) Type and source of materials to be used where 
appropriate, e.g. native species of local provenance. 
f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works 
are aligned with the proposed phasing of development. 
g) Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
h) Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance 
of the reptile receptor area(s). 
i) Details for monitoring and remedial measures. 
j) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from works. 
  
The Reptile Mitigation Strategy shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and all features 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter." 
  
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 
of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) 
  
5. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE 
LIGHTING DESIGN SCHEME 
"A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall identify those 
features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and 
that are likely to cause disturbance along important 
routes used for foraging; and show how and where 
external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 
appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and 
technical specifications) so that it can be clearly 
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or 
prevent bats using their territory. 
  
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with 
the specifications and locations set out in the scheme 
and maintained thereafter in accordance with the 
Page 28



scheme. Under no circumstances should any other 
external lighting be installed without prior consent from 
the local planning authority." 
  
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority 
habitats & species) 
  
Recommended conditions for Outline elements of the 
application: 
  
1. CONCURRENT WITH RESERVED MATTERS 
ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
"All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
contained in Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (SES, October 2020) as already submitted 
with the planning application and agreed in principle with 
the local planning authority prior to determination. 
  
This may include the appointment of an appropriately 
competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works 
(ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during 
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all 
activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance 
with the approved details." 
  
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and 
Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC 
Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
  
2. CONCURRENT WITH RESERVED MATTERS PRIOR 
TO SLAB LEVEL: FINAL BIODIVERSITY 
ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY 
"A final Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected 
and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. 
  
The content of the final Biodiversity Enhancement 
Strategy shall include the following: 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed 
enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by 
appropriate maps and plans; 
d) persons responsible for implementing the 
enhancement measures; 
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance 
(where relevant). 
  

Page 29



The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and shall be retained in that manner 
thereafter." 
  
Reason: To enhance protected and Priority 
Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its 
duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority 
habitats & species). 
  
3. CONCURRENT WITH RESERVED MATTERS PRIOR 
TO OCCUPATION: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING 
DESIGN SCHEME 
"A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall identify those 
features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and 
that are likely to cause disturbance along important 
routes used for foraging; and show how and where 
external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 
appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and 
technical specifications) so that it can be clearly 
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or 
prevent bats using their territory. 
  
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with 
the specifications and locations set out in the scheme 
and maintained thereafter in accordance with the 
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other 
external lighting be installed without prior consent from 
the local planning authority." 
  
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority 
habitats & species) 
 

ECC Highways Dept 
 

Essex County Council in their capacity as Highway 
Authority has thoroughly assessed the highways and 
transportation information submitted in support of the 
above planning application. The assessment of the 
application and Transport Assessment was undertaken 
with reference to the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the following aspects were considered: 
access and safety; capacity; the opportunities for 
sustainable transport; and highway mitigation measures. 
 
The Transport Assessment accompanying the planning 
application has been considered in detail and the 
Highway Authority is satisfied that, at peak times, the 
number of trips generated by the proposal on the 
highway network would be unlikely to be severe, 
therefore:   
 
From a highway and transportation perspective the 
impact of the proposal is acceptable to Highway 
Authority subject to the following mitigation and 
Page 30



conditions: 
 
1.    No development shall take place, including any 
ground works or demolition, until a Construction 
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved 
plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The Plan shall provide for: 
i. vehicle routing, 
ii. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and 
visitors,  
iii. loading and unloading of plant and materials,  
iv. storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development,  
v. wheel and underbody washing facilities. 
vi. Before and after condition survey to identify 
defects to highway in the vicinity of the access to the site 
and where necessary ensure repairs are undertaken at 
the developer expense when caused by the developer. 
 
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these 
vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur and to 
ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out 
onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and 
Policy DM1. 
 
2.    No occupation of the development shall take place 
until the following have been provided or completed: 
a) A priority junction off Parsons Hill to provide access to 
the proposed site as shown in principle on planning 
application, drawing number: 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
b) The road junction at its centre line shall be provided 
with a minimum clear to ground visibility splay with 
dimensions of 2.4 metres by 92 metres to the north and 
2.4 metres by 102 metres to the south, as measured 
from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. 
Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before 
the road junction / access is first used by vehicular traffic 
and retained free of any obstruction at all times. 
c) To current Essex County Council specification, the 
provision of two bus stops on Parsons Hill which would 
best serve the proposal site (details shall be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
the development) to include but not restricted to shelter 
(x2) with bus stop flag, Kassel Kerbs, and bus 
timetables. 
d) Provision of a 2-metre-wide footway either side of the 
new junction and across the entire site frontage as 
shown in principle with drawing no. 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
e) Provision of a 2-metre-wide footway on the south-west 
side of Parsons Hill to provide a pedestrian link from the 
development to the Village Hall and bus stop as shown in 
principle with drawing no. 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
 
Reason: To protect highway efficiency of movement and 
safety and to ensure the proposal site is accessible by 
more sustainable modes of transport such as public 

Page 31



transport, cycling and walking, in accordance with policy 
DM1, DM9 and DM10. 
 
3. A Section 106 financial contribution of £20,000 
(index linked) towards the design and/or delivery of the 
upgrade of the traffic signals at the A133 Main Road/ 
Colchester Road/ B1029 Great Bentley Road/ Bromley 
Road junction, Frating.  Such contribution to be paid on 
commencement of development. (Payback 5 years). 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and efficiency. 
 
4. There shall be no discharge of surface water onto 
the Highway.  
 
Reason: To prevent hazards caused by water flowing 
onto the highway and to avoid the formation of ice on the 
highway in the interest of highway safety to ensure 
accordance with policy DM1. 
 
5.  Any new boundary planting shall be planted a 
minimum of 1 metre back from the highway boundary 
and any visibility splay. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the future outward growth of the 
planting does not encroach upon the highway or interfere 
with the passage of users of the highway, to preserve the 
integrity of the highway and in the interests of highway 
safety and in accordance with Policy DM1. 
 
6.   Prior to occupation the vehicle parking areas 
indicated on the approved plans, including any parking 
spaces for the mobility impaired, has been marked out in 
parking bays.  The vehicle parking area and associated 
turning area shall always be retained in this form. The 
vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other 
than the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of 
the development unless otherwise agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority.                              
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in 
the adjoining streets does not occur in the interests of 
highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided 
in accordance with Policy DM8. 
 
7.     Cycle / Powered Two-wheeler parking shall be 
provided in accordance with the EPOA Parking 
Standards. The approved facility shall be secure, 
convenient, covered and provided prior to occupation 
and retained at all times.  
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate cycle / powered two-
wheeler parking is provided in the interest of highway 
safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DM8. 
 
8. Prior to first occupation of the proposed 
development, the Developer shall submit a residential 
travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
Page 32



consultation with Essex County Council. Such approved 
travel plan shall then be actively implemented for a 
minimum period from first occupation of the development 
until 1 year after final occupation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by 
car and promoting sustainable development and 
transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10. 
 
The above conditions are to ensure that the proposal 
conforms to the relevant policies contained within the 
County Highway Authority’s Development Management 
Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary 
Guidance in February 2011. 
 
Informatives: 
- The above requirements should be imposed by way of 
negative planning conditions or planning obligation 
agreements as appropriate. 
- In making this recommendation the Highway Authority 
has treated all planning application drawings relating to 
the internal layout of the proposal site as illustrative only. 
- Prior to any works taking place in the highway the 
developer should enter into an S278 agreement with the 
Highway Authority under the Highways Act 1980 to 
regulate the construction of the highway works. 
- All or some of the above requirements may attract the 
need for a commuted sum towards their future 
maintenance (details should be agreed with the Highway 
Authority as soon as possible) 
- All highway related details should be agreed with the 
Highway Authority. 
- The proposed junction layout, and footway proposals 
will require a further Stage 1 Road Safety Audit. 
- The development should be in accordance with the 
Parking Standards Design and Good Practice 
Supplementary Planning Document dated September 
2009. 
 

ECC Schools Service 
02.02.2021 

Thank you for providing details of the revised hybrid 
planning application for up to 79 new homes. As no 
residential unit mix has been provided I have assumed 
that all of these units are homes with two or more 
bedrooms, and therefore a development of this size can 
be expected to generate the need for up to 7.11 Early 
Years and Childcare (EY&C) places; 23.7 primary 
school, and 15.8 secondary school places. 
  
Please note that any developer contribution figures 
referred to in this letter are calculations only, and that 
final payments will be based on the actual dwelling unit 
mix and the inclusion of indexation. 
  
Early Years and Childcare 
Essex County Council has a statutory duty under the 
Childcare Act 2006 to ensure that there is sufficient and 
accessible high-quality early years and childcare 

Page 33



provision to meet local demand. 
  
The proposed development is located within the 
Alresford and Elmstead ward. According to latest 
available childcare sufficiency data, there are 8 early 
years and childcare providers within the ward, however 
only one childminder is within a 3 mile radius. Overall a 
total of 15 unfilled places were recorded.  
 
As there are sufficient places available in the area, a 
developers' contribution towards new childcare places 
will not be required for this application. 
  
Primary Education 
 
This development would be within the priority admissions 
area of St George's CE Primary, Great Bromley, which 
has a Published Admission Number of 17 places per 
year. As of October, the school was full in most year 
groups, including Reception, with a total of 119 pupils on 
roll. Forecasts for the wider area (Tendring Primary 
Group 3), which are published in the Essex School 
Organisation Service's 10 Year Plan to meet demand for 
school places, suggest that up to 32 additional places 
per year group will be required by the end of the Plan 
period. 
  
In accordance with the ECC Developer's Guide to 
Infrastructure Contributions (Revised 2020), based on 
demand generated by this proposal set out above, a 
developer contribution of £486,040, index linked to Q1 - 
2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on local primary 
school provision. This equates to £20,508 per place. 
  
Secondary Education 
 
This development would be within the priority admission 
area of Manningtree High. A one form entry expansion 
project is underway, which is expected to provide 
sufficient medium term secondary school capacity for the 
area. A developer contribution would therefore not be 
required at this time.  
  
School Transport 
 
Having reviewed the proximity of the site to the nearest 
primary school, Essex County Council would not be 
seeking a school transport contribution, however, the 
developer should ensure that safe direct walking and 
cycling routes to local schools are available. 
  
Having reviewed the proximity of the site to the nearest 
secondary school, Essex County Council would seek a 
secondary school transport contribution as the distance 
from the proposed development to the nearest 
secondary school falls outside of the statutory 3 mile 
limit. The current cost of providing this is £104,728 index 
Page 34



Linked to Q1 - 2020. 
  
Libraries 
 
ECC may seek contributions to support the expansion of 
the library service to meet customer needs generated by 
residential developments of 20+ homes. The provision of 
a Library Service is a statutory duty under the 1964 
Public Libraries and Museums Act and it's increasingly 
become a shared gateway for other services such as for 
accessing digital information and communications. 
  
In this case the suggested population increase brought 
about by the proposed development is expected to 
create additional usage of Wivenhoe primarily, 
Greenstead and/or Manningtree libraries. In accordance 
with the Essex County Council Developers' Guide to 
Infrastructure Contribution (Revised 2020), a contribution 
is therefore considered necessary to improve, enhance 
and extend the facilities and services provided, at a cost 
of £244.92 and £77.80 per unit, respectively. 
Improvements could include, but is not limited to, 
additional facilities, additional furniture, provision of 
learning equipment / play equipment for younger 
children, improved access, external works such as 
parking and bike racks and IT. 
  
In this case, and taking the above into account, it is 
calculated that a contribution of £25,494.88 is requested 
and should be included in any Section 106 Agreement 
should the Council be minded to grant permission. 
  
In view of the above, I request on behalf of Essex County 
Council that if planning permission for this development 
is granted it should be subject to a section 106 
agreement to mitigate its impact on primary education, 
secondary school transport and libraries. 
  
The contributions requested have been considered in 
connection with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as Amended) 
and are CIL compliant. Our standard formula s106 
agreement clauses that ensure the contribution would be 
necessary and fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development are available from Essex Legal 
Services. 
  
If your council were minded to turn down the application, 
ECC would be grateful if the lack of surplus primary 
education, secondary school transport and libraries in the 
area to accommodate the proposed new homes can be 
noted as an additional reason for refusal, and that we are 
automatically consulted on any appeal or further 
application relating to the site. 
  
 

Essex Wildlife Trust 
 

No comments received 

Page 35



 
TDC Housing Services 
22.02.2021 

 
The Council's emerging Local Plan requires that sites 
delivering 11 or more dwellings need to provide 
affordable housing. This application proposes 79 
dwellings in total and therefore there is a requirement to 
deliver affordable housing. The emerging Local Plan 
requires that 30% of dwellings on eligible sites should be 
delivered as affordable housing and therefore on this 
application, this equates to 23 dwellings in total.  
  
There is a high demand for housing in Great Bromley 
from households residing in the district on the housing 
register. There are currently the following number of 
households on the housing register seeking housing in 
the village: 
  
1 bedroom -  103 households* 
2 bedroom -    63 households 
3 bedroom -    46 households 
4 bedroom -    23 households 
  
*of the 103 households seeking 1 bedroom 
accommodation, 38 households are aged 60 or over.  
  
The Housing Services preference is that affordable 
housing should be delivered on site and that another 
registered provider should be sought to take on the 
affordable housing dwellings.  
 

  
TDC UU Open Spaces 
13.05.2021 

There is currently a deficit of -1.15 hectares of equipped 
play and formal open space in Great Bromley.  
  
There is one play are in Great Bromley, located at Hare 
Green approximately 1 mile for the development. To 
cope with any further development this provision will 
need to be increased. 
  
Recommendation 
  
The application includes formal and informal open space, 
however for a development of this size we would expect 
to see some provision for play to be included on site, 
ideally made from natural materials and following the 
contours of the land.  
 

TDC Waste Management 
20.01.2021 

No comments at this stage. 
 

  
Essex County Council Heritage 
28.01.2021 

ECC Heritage consider the Site to contain the following 
non-designated heritage assets: 
  
- Hamilton Lodge; 
- Associated stable block; 
- Associated walled garden; and 
- Associated gate lodge. 
  
Page 36



ECC Heritage commend the applicant team for taking on 
board heritage comments, working with the local 
authority and altering a scheme which can save a 
collection of heritage assets in this site. Development is 
needed as a form of intervention to halt the decline of 
these heritage assets and provide them with a 
sustainable use. As such, ECC Heritage support this 
application in principle. 
  
The concept masterplan shows areas of development. 
ECC Heritage support these in principle as well as the 
space given to the front of Hamilton Lodge. There is still 
an unknown future for Trelawn, the associated gate 
lodge (shown retained on concept plan but noted as lost 
in the heritage aspirations document). However, ECC 
Heritage are confident this can be resolved during the 
reserved matters stage. 
  
The buildings to be demolished are of no heritage value, 
detract from the setting of the heritage assets and as 
such there is no objection to this aspect of the 
application. 
  
ECC Heritage support this application on the assumption 
that proper legal agreements are put in place to 
safeguard the future of the heritage assets as part of this 
development. 
  
Should this application be approved, ECC Heritage 
recommend TDC suggest design workshops with the 
applicant in advance of reserved matter applications. If 
delivered correctly I consider this development would 
make a good case study of how appropriate new build 
development can save and rejuvenate heritage assets 
which are at risk. 
 
 

TDC Environmental Protection 
12.01.2021 

Environmental Protection have reviewed the above 
application and if this application is to proceed to the full 
planning phase then Environmental Protection would 
require the following: 
  
Demolition & Construction  
  
Prior to the commencement of any ground and/or 
demolition and/or construction works, the applicant (or 
their contractors) shall submit a full method statement to, 
and receive written approval from, the Pollution and 
Environmental Control.  
  
- Noise Control 
  
1) The use of barriers to mitigate the impact of noisy 
operations will be used where possible. This may include 
the retention of part(s) of the original buildings during the 
demolition process to act in this capacity.  
2) No vehicle connected with the works to arrive on site 

Page 37



before 07:30 or leave after 19:00(except in the case of 
emergency). Working hours to be restricted between 
08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Saturday (finishing at 13:00 
on Saturday) with no working of any kind permitted on 
Sundays or any Public/Bank Holidays.  
3) The selection and use of machinery to operate on site, 
and working practices to be adopted will, as a minimum 
requirement, be compliant with the standards laid out in 
British Standard 5228.  
4) Mobile plant to be resident on site during extended 
works shall be fitted with non-audible reversing alarms 
(subject to HSE agreement).  
5) Prior to the commencement of any piling works which 
may be necessary, a full method statement shall be 
agreed in writing with the Planning Authority (in 
consultation with Pollution and Environmental Control). 
This will contain a rationale for the piling method chosen 
and details of the techniques to be employed which 
minimise noise and vibration to nearby residents. 6) If 
there is a requirement to work outside of the 
recommended hours the applicant or contractor must 
submit a request in writing for approval by Pollution and 
Environmental Control prior to the commencement of 
works.  
  
- Emission Control  
1) All waste arising from the demolition process, ground 
clearance and construction processes to be recycled or 
removed from the site subject to agreement with the 
Local Planning Authority and other relevant agencies.  
2) No materials produced as a result of the site 
development or clearance shall be burned on site. 
3) All reasonable steps, including damping down site 
roads, shall be taken to minimise dust and litter 
emissions from the site whilst works of construction and 
demolition are in progress.  
4) All bulk carrying vehicles accessing the site shall be 
suitably sheeted to prevent nuisance from dust in transit. 
  
Adherence to the above condition will significantly reduce 
the likelihood of public complaint and potential 
enforcement action by Pollution and Environmental 
Control. The condition gives the best practice for 
Demolition and Construction sites. Failure to follow them 
may result in enforcement action under nuisance 
legislation (Environmental Protection Act 1990), or the 
imposition of controls on working hours (Control of 
Pollution Act 1974). 
  
External Lighting 
  
No development shall take place until a scheme for the 
control of light pollution has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall be devised by a competent person and 
fully comply with the Code of Practice for the Reduction 
of Light Pollution issued by the Institution of Lighting 
Page 38



Professionals, the DETR document "Lighting in the 
Countryside: Towards Good Practice" and all current 
official guidance. Such light pollution control measures 
as shall have been approved shall be installed prior to 
[the building hereby permitted/ use hereby permitted] 
[coming into beneficial use/commencing] and thereafter 
be retained and maintained to the agreed specification 
and working order 
  
Any lighting of the development shall be located, 
designed and directed [or screened] so that it does not 
[cause avoidable intrusion to adjacent residential 
properties/constitute a traffic hazard/cause unnecessary 
light pollution outside the site boundary].  "Avoidable 
intrusion" means contrary to the Code of Practice for the 
Reduction of Light Pollution issued by the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals (www.theilp.org.uk ) 
  
Contaminated Land 
  
I have checked the councils contaminated land database 
and there is no information in relation to contaminated 
land in this area therefore we would recommend the 
following: 
  
No development shall take place until the ground 
conditions on the site have been subject to a Risk 
Assessment. This will enable Tendring District Council to 
decide whether the site is suitable for its proposed use 
prior to any development taking place.  
  
This will incorporate a 'phase one' assessment in the 
form of a desktop study/site walkover report. This will 
include a review of previous investigations; previous 
uses; potential sources of contamination; and potential 
pathways and receptors. If necessary, this shall be 
followed up by a 'phase two' risk assessment that shall 
incorporate a detailed intrusive investigation referring to 
the phase one study.   
  
Individual risk assessments shall be submitted to 
Environmental Protection for approval on completion. 

  
  
NHS East Essex CCG 
10.08.2020 

As it stands currently the impacted practice/practices are 
not over capacity therefore we will not be seeking a 
healthcare contribution at this stage, however if anything 
changes please consult us further and we will carry out a 
further healthcare impact assessment to review capacity 
within the relevant practice/s. 

  
ECC SuDS Consultee 
18.11.2020 

Lead Local Flood Authority position 
 
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the 
associated documents which accompanied the planning 
application, they do not object to the granting of planning 
permission based on the following: 

Page 39



  
Condition 1 
  
No works except demolition shall takes place until a 
detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological 
context of the development, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme should include but not be limited to: 
  
- Discharge via infiltration for all storm events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for 
climate change. 
- Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the 
drainage system. 
- Detailed engineering drawings of each component of 
the drainage scheme. 
- A final drainage plan which details exceedance and 
conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location 
and sizing of any drainage features. 
- A written report summarising the final strategy and 
highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy. 
  
The scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to 
occupation. It should be noted that all outline applications 
are subject to the most up to date design criteria held by 
the LLFA. 
  
Reason 
  
- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage 
of/disposal of surface water from the site. 
- To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over 
the lifetime of the development. 
- To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which 
may be caused to the local water environment 
- Failure to provide the above required information before 
commencement of works may result in a system being 
installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water 
occurring during rainfall events and may lead to 
increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the site. 
  
Condition 2 
 
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain 
yearly logs of maintenance which should be carried out 
in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. 
These must be available for inspection upon a request by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason 
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the 
development as outlined in any approved Maintenance 
Plan so that they continue to function as intended to 
ensure mitigation against flood risk. 
  
Page 40



Any questions raised within this response should be 
directed to the applicant and the response should be 
provided to the LLFA for further consideration. If you are 
minded to approve the application contrary to this advice, 
we request that you contact us to allow further discussion 
and/or representations from us.  
 

5. Representations 

 
5.1  Great Bromley Parish Council supports the application in general, however would question 

TDC as to why more affordable units are required when the identified need is 8 units, following 
a previous survey from the Rural Community Council of Essex, has already been fulfilled. 
There is also concern on the impact on services such as health and education. The current 
access point is also cause for concern. 

 
5.2  15 letters of representation have been received outlining the following concerns; 

 
- This proposal is an over development of the site that will only increase pressure on current 

infrastructure with no benefit to the local area 
 

- Where are the jobs to support these houses certainly not in this area. So travel by car will 
be required as the limited bus service will not work for most people travelling to work. 

 
- No proper attempt has been made by the development company to liaise with ALL of the 

village. Especially considering that many may have been shielding, staying at home or not 
had suitable internet access. 

 
- The proposed site’s entrance and egress is sited on a bend, whilst a mini roundabout and 

lower speed limit has been considered as traffic calming methods. The potential of an 
additional 200 + daily car journeys through an already busy village shows a severe lack of 
forward planning and neglect to our village. 

 
- This site is deemed to in the open country by TDC's own classification. In TDC's Local 

Plan, Great Bromley is classed, in Section 3, Sustainable Places, 3.2.1.4.2, as a "Smaller 
Rural Settlement. 

 
- All journeys will have to be made by car, which is against the aims of TDC and the 

Government. 
 

- Site cannot support large scale residential development and retain a village feel. 
 

- Lack of local infrastructure to support residents – school places and doctor appointments. 
 

- Junction at Parsons Hill and surrounding rural lanes will have difficulty coping with 
increased volume of traffic.  

 
- Light pollution impacts upon rural locality and wildlife. 

 
- Maintenance concerns in respect of the new areas of landscaping/village green.  

  
- Wildlife corridor will be destroyed by the development.  

 
- Development would incorporate double the number of homes than the village of Gt 

Bromley.  
 

- Housing numbers have been achieved and the site is located outside of the defined 
settlement boundary for the village.  

Page 41



 
- Public transport and facilities are largely non-existent.  

 
5.3  1 neutral representation have been received outlining the following comments; 

 
- Hamilton Lodge along with its parkland is a heritage asset of Great Bromley although it has 

been remodelled over the years and in the recent past has fallen into decline. 
 

- Our main concerns are that the bottle shape of the plot could easily be converted into a 
"gated community" at any time in the future, to the detriment of the village. 

 
- The outline plan has no parking marked for visitors to the meadow and new village green, 

which was presented as open to the whole village to enjoy. 
 

- There are few local amenities in the village with no medical practitioners, shops and few 
employment opportunities other than farming or self-employment. The village primary 
school is small and already full to capacity, there is no secondary school in the village. 

  
6. Assessment 

 
6.1  The main issues to consider in assessing this application are whether there is any conflict with 

Development Plan policies. If there is any conflict, whether the application can be considered 
to be in accordance with the Development Plan when taken as a whole. If the application is not 
in accordance with the Development Plan, whether there are any material considerations, 
including emerging policies in the Local Plan to 2033 and the NPPF, which indicate that 
planning permission should be granted. 

 
     It is considered that the principal, important and contentious issues in this case are: 

 Principle of Development & Loss of Employment Use 

 Visual Impacts and Tree Impacts 

 Design/Layout 

 Impacts on Residential Amenity 
 Heritage Considerations 

 Ecology Matters 

 Highway Safety/Parking 

 Drainage/Foul Drainage 

 Legal Obligations/Viability 
 

  Site Context 
 

6.2  Hamilton Lodge is located south of the village of Great Bromley and virtually immediately north 
of the A120, approximately 8 miles east of Colchester. It comprises 16 acres of buildings, 
hardstanding, grassland and parkland around an early 20th Century house and more recently 
constructed care home/assisted living accommodation. It is a former residential care home and 
is comprised within the Tendring District Council brownfield register. The care home function 
ceased in 2017. Hamilton Lodge itself has been unoccupied since 2014. 

 
6.3  The site has a narrow frontage to Parson’s Hill with gate piers and a single storey lodge 

cottage. This frontage is screened by reasonably dense and unkempt vegetation.  
 
6.4  The current access/driveway is offset to the left and tree-lined. It curves north-eastwards to the 

care home buildings. The site boundaries are well-landscaped. The key characteristic of the 
site is the wealth of trees within what is an overgrown parkland site with an extensive range of 
buildings, hardstanding and circulation areas. 

 

Page 42



6.5  Hamilton Lodge itself is of Regency construction has been much altered over its lifetime, both 
internally and externally, due to the major phases of its redevelopment. It is uncertain how 
much built fabric, if any, the building retains and much of the subsequent gothic alterations 
were lost towards the end of the nineteenth century or early twentieth century. Internally, the 
main building has been comprehensively altered for care home use 

 
6.6  In total the buildings on site have a total gross internal floor area of some of 38,842 sqft (3,612 

sqm). In addition to Hamilton Lodge itself (providing approximately 12,000 sqft of 
accommodation), the following buildings are on site: 

 
- Coach House: A two storey building of rendered solid brick construction under a slated 

roof. 
- Bungalows: Four bungalows arranged as four studio units each, providing open plan 

accommodation. 
- Selbourne Court: A 1980’s built single storey property providing 18 bedrooms, 3 x 

kitchen/dining areas, resident’s lounge and ancillary offices. 
- Springlands: A single storey building timber building. 
- Trelawn: Single storey gatehouse situated at the entrance to the property. 

 
6.7  Taking the above into account the current built form on the site equates to approximately 5% 

of the total site area.  
   
6.8  The site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary in both the saved Tendring 

District Local Plan (2007) and the emerging Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and 
Beyond Publication Draft. 

 
Proposal 
 

6.9 This application seeks planning permission for 79 residential units on the site which 
incorporates the renovation and conversion of Hamilton Lodge, The Stable Block and Walled 
Garden elements.  

 
6.10 The application has been submitted in a hybrid format (i.e. part outline/part detail application) 

and proposes the following; 
 
- 67 dwellings including the conversion of Hamilton Lodge, The Stable Block and Walled 

Garden and all associated access roads, amenity space, landscaping, parking, servicing, 
utilities, footpath and cycle links, on-site drainage, and infrastructure works including gas 
and electricity apparatus (Submitted in Outline Form); 

 
- Residential development for 12 dwellings and associated access roads including formation 

of new junction to Parsons Hill (Submitted in Detail Form);  
 
- Formal and informal open space including village green and meadow including 

landscaping, parking, servicing, utilities, footpath links (Submitted in Detail Form).  
 

6.11 The conversion of the existing structures (Hamilton Lodge, The Stable Block and Walled 
Garden) sit within the ‘outline’ part of the application and it is the applicant’s intention to 
undertake further detailed assessment, survey and design as part of the Reserved Matters 
approval process.  

 
6.12 The more recent buildings on site and those not identified as non-designated heritage assets 

are to be demolished as part of the application proposals.  
 
6.13 Overall the proposed re-development of the site, depending on the detailed design and siting 

of the reserved matters elements of the scheme, would result in approximately 40-45% of the 
site being covered in built form.  

Page 43



 
 Principle of Development & Loss of Employment Use 

 
6.14 Planning law requires that decisions on planning applications must be taken in accordance 

with the development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise as 
set out in (Section 70(2) of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). The 'development plan' for Tendring 
comprises, in part, the 'Saved' policies of the 2007 Local Plan. Paragraph 213 of the 
Framework allows local planning authorities to give due weight to adopted albeit outdated 
policies, according to their degree of consistency with the policies within it. 

 
6.15 Section 1 of the Local Plan (which sets out the strategy for growth across North Essex 

including Tendring, Colchester and Braintree) has been examined by an Independent Planning 
Inspector who issued his final report and recommended 'main modifications' on 10th 
December 2020. The Inspector's report confirms that, subject to making his recommended 
main modifications (including the removal from the plan of two of the three 'Garden 
Communities' proposed along the A120 i.e. those to the West of Braintree and on the 
Colchester/Braintree Border), the plan is legally compliant and sound and can proceed to 
adoption. Notably, the housing and employment targets in the plan have been confirmed as 
sound, including the housing requirement of 550 dwellings per annum in Tendring. 

 
6.16 The examination of Section 2 of the Local Plan (which contains more specific policies and 

proposals for Tendring) is now expected to proceed in 2021 and two Inspectors have already 
been appointed by the Secretary of State to undertake the examination, with the Council 
preparing and updating its documents ready for the examination. In time, the Section 2 Local 
Plan (once examined and adopted in its own right) will join the Section 1 Plan as part of the 
development plan, superseding in full the 2007 adopted plan.   

 
6.17 Where emerging policies are particularly relevant to a planning application and can be given 

considerable weight in line with the principles set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), they will be considered and, where appropriate, referred to in decision 
notices.  

 
6.18 The NPPF requires Councils to boost significantly the supply of housing to meet objectively 

assessed future housing needs in full. In any one year, Councils must be able to identify five 
years' worth of deliverable housing land against their projected housing requirements (plus an 
appropriate buffer to ensure choice and competition in the market for land, account for any 
fluctuations in the market or to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply). If this is 
not possible, or housing delivery over the previous three years has been substantially below 
(less than 75%) the housing requirement, paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF requires applications 
for housing development needing to be assessed on their merits, whether sites are allocated 
for development in the Local Plan or not.   

 
6.19 As the supply of deliverable housing sites in the modified Section 1 of the Local Plan is now in 

the order of 6.5 years this actual objectively assessed housing need for Tendring is a 
significant material consideration in the determination of planning applications which 
substantially tempers the amount of weight that can reasonably be attributed to the benefit of 
additional new housing - particularly in the consideration of proposals that fall outside of the 
settlement development boundaries in either the adopted or the emerging Section 2 Local 
Plan.   

 
6.20 Adopted Policy SP3 (Spatial Strategy for North Essex) of the 2013-2033 Local Plan states, 

amongst other things, that development will be accommodated within or adjoining settlements, 
according to their scale, sustainability and existing role both within each individual district and, 
where relevant, across the wider strategic area. Future growth will be planned to ensure 
existing settlements maintain their distinctive character and role, to avoid coalescence 
between them and to conserve their setting. New housing development should be focused 

Page 44



towards the larger urban areas and to within settlement development boundaries. This is 
consistent with the Framework's objectives for achieving sustainable development through a 
plan-led approach that focuses development to locations which are or can be made 
sustainable, limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes 

 
6.21 As set out above, the policies for the delivery of housing are considered up-to-date and the 

application must therefore be determined in accordance with Paragraph 11 c) of the NPPF, 
thus in accordance with the development plan. In this instance it is evident that the site is not 
located within any defined settlement boundary. The site is within the countryside for the 
purposes of planning policy. The proposal is therefore contrary to adopted policy SP3.  

 
6.22 The main aims of Policy SP3 are to direct growth to those places where a good range of 

services and facilities are easily accessible by means other than private motorised transport, to 
reduce the need to travel and to protect the character and appearance of the countryside. 

 
6.23 Although the application site is some distance outside of any defined settlement boundary, the 

proposed dwellings would not be isolated from other dwellings. Nevertheless, the development 
would be situated 450m from the defined settlement boundary of Great Bromley (as outlined in 
the emerging local plan) and 1.4km from the defined settlement boundary of Frating. These 
villages are, under emerging policy SPL1, themselves considered to be among the lowest 
order settlements, suitable for the provision of only a limited amount of additional housing, due 
to the minimal level of services and facilities they provide. Residents of these villages are 
considered to be reliant on other larger villages and towns in order to access a full range of 
services, facilities and employment opportunities. 

 
6.24 There is a surfaced footpath that passes directly beside the application site and leads to the 

village of Great Bromley to the north and extends south to the junction with Harwich Road. 
There are bus services available near to this junction, which is approximately a 5 minute walk 
from the site. This bus service runs to Colchester and other settlements on an hourly basis. 
Whilst regular, it is not considered to be particularly frequent. However, the footpath is unlit 
and only runs along the eastern side of the road. There is no refuge from traffic on the western 
side of the road nor shelter provided from inclement weather on either side of the road. It is 
therefore considered that these matters, along with the time taken for the journeys to and from 
larger settlements, would encourage a reliance on the use of private motorised transport. As 
such it is not concluded that the public transport provision offers a reasonable alternative mode 
in this location. 

 
6.25 In addition, although it would be possible to walk to Great Bromley, and other settlements may 

technically be within walking distance of the site, the service provision within these settlements 
is limited and would not meet every day needs of future occupiers of the proposed 
development. It is therefore considered that it would be highly likely that, rather than walking or 
cycling to the nearby villages, future occupiers would regularly use private motorised transport 
to access a full range of services, facilities and employment opportunities. 

 
6.26 It is acknowledged that there will be forthcoming provision of a village shop within a 5 minute 

walk of the site. However, by its nature it would likely provide a limited range of goods. 
Nevertheless, this would allow for the reduction in some journeys, particularly for top up items. 
This attracts modest weight in favour of the proposal. 

 
6.27 Overall it is considered that the existence of the unlit footways, the bus services and the 

forthcoming village shop, along with other limited facilities in proximity to the site, including the 
offerings of The Court House Public House, are sufficient to reach a finding that the location of 
the development would not be acceptable in relation to accessibility to services and facilities.  

 
6.28 This conclusion is consistent with the findings of a planning inspector within a recent appeal 

decision at Field House, Parsons Hill, Great Bromley (Appeal Reference - 
APP/P1560/A/14/2229002), which is located approximately 430m to the south of the site. 

Page 45



Whilst relating to a smaller residential development for 3 dwellings the inspector concluded 
that the site was unsustainable and future residents would be heavily reliant on private vehicle 
to access their everyday needs.  

 
6.29 It is appreciated that opportunities to maximise alternative transport solutions will vary between 

urban and rural areas and it is also acknowledged that the site is brownfield in nature and 
attracted a certain level of traffic movements under its former care home use, but even taking 
this into account, it is considered that the proposal for 79 dwellings in this unsustainable 
location runs contrary to the objectives of Policy SP3 and is of an inappropriate scale, in a 
countryside location clearly detached from the nearest  settlement of Great Bromley which is 
identified as a smaller rural settlement under emerging policy SPL3.  

 
6.30 Moreover, whilst it is acknowledged that the land has been previously developed, the site 

essentially comprises of care home/assisted living buildings, areas of hardstanding, grassland 
and parkland around an early 20th Century house. The extent of the combined building 
footprints present on this extensive site equate only to approximately 5% of the total site 
coverage. Whereas the proposed built form will cover a significantly wider area of the site at 
approximately 40-45% of the land. This increase in built form is considered to result in a 
harmful urbanising effect and would represent a substantial and material change to the 
character of the site in this essentially rural location. The higher and more urban density 
proposed would evidently be at odds with the prevailing pattern of built form in the vicinity, 
which comprises of loose knit development within large spacious plots more akin to the rural 
character of the locality. Consequently, the development would also be in conflict with adopted 
policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond - Section 1 and saved 
policy EN1 of the adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007), which state that all new 
development should reflect the following place shaping principles, where applicable respond 
positively to local character and context to preserve and enhance the quality of existing places 
and their environs and that the quality of the district’s landscape and its distinctive local 
character will be protected and, where possible, enhanced and any development which would 
significantly harm landscape character or quality will not be permitted. 

 
6.31 It is therefore concluded that the site would not be in a suitable location for the proposed 

development having regard to local and national policies concerned with the location of 
development. The proposal would conflict with adopted Policy SP3 and emerging local plan 
Policy SPL1 as the proposal would conflict with the aims of the settlement hierarchy it sets out. 

 
6.32 In terms of the previous employment element (associated with the former care home), saved 

Policy ER3 of the adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007) applies to all land in 
employment use. This policy states that the Council will ensure that land in, or allocated in this 
Plan for employment use will normally be retained for that purpose. Its redevelopment or 
change of use for non-employment purposes will only be permitted if the applicant can 
demonstrate that it is no longer viable or suitable for any form of employment use. The policy 
therefore requires applicants to either: 
 
i. submit evidence of a sustained but ultimately unsuccessful marketing exercise, undertaken 
at a realistic asking price; or 
ii. show that the land (site, or premises) is inherently unsuitable and/or not viable for any form 
of employment use 
 

6.33 In this instance, the current lawful use of the development site is C2 (Residential Institutional 
Use/Care Home). This falls to be considered as an employment use and therefore the 
provisions of saved policy ER3 as outlined above are relevant.  

 
6.34 The application has not been submitted with a sustained and robust marketing campaign to 

demonstrate that the site is not in demand for alternative employment uses. Nor has it been 
suitably shown that the land and buildings are inherently unsuitable for any form of 
employment use.  

Page 46



 
6.35 A document provided by the applicant seeks to address this matter by stating that the saved 

policy is of limited weight, that the application site is not specifically allocated for employment 
use, that marketing took place following the closure of the care home use and that the 
development of the site does not undermine the policy objectives of safeguarding identified 
employment sites.  

 
6.36 Officers have reviewed this document and remain of the view that saved policy ER3 is relevant 

to this application and carries significant weight being that it is a policy contained within the 
adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007). The policy evidently states that any employment 
site, regardless of whether it is allocated or not, is caught by the requirements of this policy.  

 
6.37 In addition, the applicant’s position that marketing took place following the closure of the care 

home use is noted, however details and evidence of this marketing have not been provided as 
part of the planning application. Therefore, in the absence of any marketing particulars or 
robust evidence to show that the site cannot be utilised for alternative employment uses the 
application proposals for a 100% residential development are contrary to saved policy ER3.  

 
6.38 Notwithstanding the clear conflict with established housing settlement policies outlined above it 

is acknowledged by officers that the development does provide some benefits which can be 
weighed up against the harm identified. These benefits include; 
 
- The re-development of a brownfield site; 
- The conversion and safeguarding of non-designated heritage assets present on the site; 
- Provision of an ancillary open space area, to be maintained by the parish council, which 

will open up public access to the site;  
- Provision of 30% on-site affordable housing and policy compliant infrastructure 

contributions; 
- The development represents a viable solution for the future of the site.  
 
These matters are discussed in more detailed below.  

 
Visual Impact/Trees Impacts 
 

6.39 The application site is situated the Bromley Heaths (Heathland Plateau) Landscape Character 
Area (LCA) as defined in the Tendring District Council Landscape Character Assessment.  

 
6.40 In order to show the potential visual impact of the development proposal on the area the 

applicant has provided a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). This document 
quantifies the likely visual impact of the completed development on the character and 
appearance of the local landscape character. The document identifies several locations (visual 
receptor viewpoints) from which the application site can be viewed. 

 
6.41 The LVIA sets out the existing qualities and values of the local landscape character,  describes 

the existing level of screening provided by vegetation on the site and refers to additional 
landscaping that will be carried out to enhance the overall appearance of the application site 
as well as strengthening screening. 

 
6.42 In order to consider the impact from each viewpoint (VP) the following conclusions are made 

by the Council’s Trees and Landscaping Officer: 
  
VP1 - Parsons Hill ' Back Lane West Junction. 
 
The new entrance to the site may be visible from this VP, however the main body of the 
application and the proposed development contained thereon will not be visible from this point. 
The visual impact is therefore minimal. 
  

Page 47



VP2 - Cricket Club  
 
Glimpses of the developed land may be possible during the period of time before new planting 
becomes established but views will be distant and not significantly harmful to users of the 
Village Hall, Cricket Club or surrounding area 
  
VP3 - Site Entrance Parsons Hill' looking north 
  
Fleeting glimpses for users of the highway that will decrease with the passage of time as 
planting matures. Little visual impact or harm. 
  
VP4 - Site Entrance Parsons Hill ' looking south 
  
Fleeting glimpses for users of the highway that will decrease with the passage of time as 
planting matures. Little visual impact or harm. 
  
VP5 - Parsons Hill ' Approach to Site. 
  
No clear views of the application site from this viewpoint. Some minor changes to the 
vegetation species by the entrance that will be assimilated into their setting in the fullness of 
time. 
  
VP6 - Parsons Hill ' View to south east through gap in hedge 
  
From the gap in the field side boundary hedgerow on Parsons Hill there will be the opportunity 
for glimpsed and fairly distant views of the site. However the views are restricted by existing 
vegetation and will be diminished further by proposed soft landscaping. The harmful visual 
impact will be minimal. 
  
VP7 - Mary Lane North ' South from gap in hedgerow 
 
Views are distant and restricted by existing vegetation between the viewpoint and the 
application site as well as vegetation on the boundary of the application site itself. The LVIA 
acknowledges that the proposed development will be partially visible during the winter moths 
but that the resultant visual harm is negligible. 
  
VP8 - Mary Lane North ' South from gap in hedgerow 
 
As with viewpoint 7 views are distant and restricted by existing vegetation between the 
viewpoint and the application site as well as vegetation on the boundary of the application site 
itself. The LVIA acknowledges that the proposed development will be partially visible during 
the winter moths but that the resultant visual harm is negligible. 
  
VP9 - Mary Lane North ' South west from Manor Farm 
  
There are strong field side hedgerows for much of Mary Lane North and views of the 
application are consequently restricted. VP9 offers a glimpse of the site from some distance. 
Little, if any adverse impact on local landscape character from this VP. 
  
VP10 - Mary Lane North -South west from hedgerow gap adjoining Guild Hall orchard 
 
As with VP9 there are strong field side hedgerows for much of Mary Lane North and views of 
the application are consequently restricted. VP10 offers a glimpse of the site from some 
distance through a gap in the hedgerow. The north eastern edge of the development may be 
visible from this VP until new planting becomes established. In terms of the visibility of the 
development in the landscape it is likely that there will be clear views of the development will 

Page 48



be from this point. In the short term the visual impact is likely to be harmful, with harm 
diminishing as new planting becomes established. 
  
VP11 - Mary Lane North ' Westwards from adj. 4 Park Cottages. 
 
Views of the development from this viewpoint, along with VP12 are probably the most 
significant. Although boundary planting will soften the appearance of the development views of 
dwellings are likely to remain visible in the long term albeit primary from residential dwellings 
known as The Cottages. There is no real gap in the hedgerow at this point and no public 
access to the agricultural land. The harm is categorized as minor in the LVIA and this is 
considered to be an accurate reflection of the impact of the development on the local 
landscape character from this VP.  
  
VP12 - Camp Road PRoW 166 _ 15 Westwards 
 
As described in VP11 views of the development from this viewpoint are probably the most 
significant. Although boundary planting will soften the appearance of the development views of 
dwellings are likely to remain visible in the long term and, to a degree, diminish the experience 
for users of the PRoW. The harm is categorized as minor in the LVIA and this is considered to 
be an accurate rejection of the impact of the development on the local landscape character 
from this VP.  
  
VP13 - PRoW 166_17 looking south 
  
Views would be from such a distance that they would not diminish or otherwise affect user's 
enjoyment of the countryside from this viewpoint. 
 
VP14 - St Georges Church, Badley Hall Rd, looking south 
  
The application site is not visible from this viewpoint 
  
VP15 - PRoW 166_18 looking south 
  
Any views of the site would be from such a distance that any change to the local landscape 
character would be imperceptible from this viewpoint.  
 

6.43 The Summary and Conclusion section of the LVIA describes the impact and effects on the 
local landscape character, taking into account the historic use of the land and the surrounding 
area.  

 
6.44 Section 7.1.19 of the LVIA is particularly relevant as it succinctly describes the different ways 

that development can be considered and assessed. It states; the nature of these visual effects 
is subjective. While the loss of land to new development can be judged as having a negative 
visual influence, the proposed development is designed with an appropriate vernacular 
appearance and a significant level of public open space which, over time as planting 
establishes, will complement existing views. Views are also currently degraded on-site and the 
proposals will enhance certain views both in the short and long term. Unless otherwise stated 
residual effects are assessed as neutral-minor beneficial.  

 
6.45 In respect of the impact of the development upon existing trees the application site comprises 

the land and buildings associated with Hamilton Lodge (former residential care home). Much of 
the site is neglected parkland with established specimen trees with an understory of less 
significant growth. 

 
6.46 The site contains fairly dense areas of trees, within the main body of the land and on site 

boundaries as well as dense undergrowth and areas of open grassland. There is a large pond 
close to the existing access road. 

Page 49



 
6.47 In terms of trees and other vegetation on the application site and adjacent land the applicant 

has provided a detailed tree survey and report. The report accurately describes the health and 
condition of existing trees and the extent to which they are a constraint on the development 
potential of the land. The information contained in the report is in accordance with BS5837: 
2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. Recommendations. 

 
6.48 The tree report adequately demonstrates that the development of the land could take place 

without causing harm to the important trees on the land. In terms of formal legal protection of 
the trees it should be noted that the site is not affected by a tree preservation order and is not 
situated within a conservation area.  

 
6.49 Taking into account the current limited amenity value of the trees resulting from their low 

profile in the public domain and the fact that the development proposal makes provision for the 
retention of the most significant trees on the application site it is not considered necessary or 
expedient to make a new tree preservation order (TPO) at the present time. If planning 
permission were to be granted it may become necessary for new TPO's to be made to deal 
with post development pressures. 

 
6.50 In conclusion, and having regard to the above input from the Councils Trees and Landscaping 

Officer, it is considered that the visual impact of the development proposals and the impact 
upon trees to be, on balance acceptable.  Where there are minor harm this can be mitigated 
through necessary planning conditions and or this impact will be lessened over time and as 
new and additional landscaping become established. 

 
Design/Layout 
 

6.51 The proposed development comprises of clear separate areas. Each element of the 
development is broken down as follows; 
 
Detailed Residential Element (12 units) 
 

6.52 This comprises 12 dwellings in two cul-de-sacs, 7 will face towards the village green and 5 will 
face towards ‘Lodge Meadow’. 

 
6.53 The form is a mix of principally detached homes at an appropriate density served by private 

amenity spaces of over 100sqm. These properties would be served by a minimum of 2 no. 
parking spaces and in most cases exceed this requirement. The proposed back to back 
distances between the two elements of development here would meet standard and ensure 
future resident’s amenity is safeguarded.  

 
6.54 Materials employed within this section of the development will be brick, render, 

weatherboarding and clay tiles. The dwellings would take on a traditional appearance 
comprising of varying pitches of roof, bay window features and brickwork/timber detailing to 
add interest.  

 
6.55 The detailed design of this section of the development represents an appropriate response to 

the character of the area.  
 
Village Green/Lodge Meadow 
 

6.56 The open area in front of the pond is to be a focus for recreation and forms part of the ‘Village 
Green’. It is a public-facing part of the site and is subject of specific proposals designed by the 
landscaping company employed by the applicant. This part of the site measures 8,880 sqm, or 
2.25 acres. Wooded edges, stands and individual trees comprised within this area are 
safeguarded as part of the landscape and maintenance proposals. It is intended that this area 
will be transferred to the Parish Council and will include areas of informal play.  

Page 50



 
6.57 ‘Lodge Meadow’ is proposed to provide a transition between the 12 dwellings and Hamilton 

Lodge/Coach House elements to the east. This area will include the retention of the Ha-Ha.  
 
Hamilton Lodge/Coach House/Walled Garden 
 

6.58 The conversion and re-use of these structures for residential use is included within the 
remaining 67 units that are submitted in outline form. Consequently, the detailed aspects of the 
conversion of these non-designated heritage assets (NDHA) are not included within this 
submission. However, the submitted Heritage Aspirations document and associated Concept 
Masterplan demonstrates that these NDHA can be retained and converted for residential use. 
The exact housing mix for these converted structures would be confirmed at reserved matters 
stage. The concept plans show that a communal garden area can be provided between 
Hamilton Lodge and The Stable Block and provide sufficient amenity space for future 
residents. Parking will be absorbed around the building/structures in question.  
 
New Build Residential Elements 
 

6.59 The remaining new build dwellings are to be incorporated within several development parcels 
located predominantly at the eastern end of the site and in and around the retained non-
designated heritage assets. These parcels will accommodate approximately 50 dwellings in 
total and are shown on the submitted concept masterplan drawing in limited detail. In the event 
of an approval the detailed design and layout of these sections of the development would be 
reviewed at reserved matters stage. Notwithstanding the need to submit reserved matters for 
this element of the development it is considered that there is sufficient spacing to 
accommodate the number of units envisaged for these development parcels whilst 
incorporating adequate parking provision, private amenity space and suitable distances 
between properties to safeguard future resident’s privacy.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

6.60 The NPPF at paragraph 130 states that planning should secure developments with a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users. Saved Policy QL11 of the Tendring District 
Local Plan (2007) states that amongst other criteria development will only be permitted if the 
development will not have a materially damaging impact on the privacy, daylight or other 
amenities of occupiers of nearby properties. 

 
6.61 There are residential properties located in around the application site at varying distances. To 

the east there are dwellings located approximately 225m from the site, to the south residential 
properties are sited between 110m-149m from the site and to the north a dwelling is located 
88m at its closest point to the development. On the opposite side of Parsons Hill a dwelling is 
situated in a setback location from the highway at approximately 109m from the frontage of the 
site. 

 
6.62 Therefore given the degree of separation of these dwellings to the development site and the 

presence of mature vegetation existing on the site perimeters any impact upon the resident’s 
amenity, in terms of outlook and privacy, would not be harmful thereby according with the 
provisions of the local and national planning policies outlined above.  
 
Heritage Considerations 
 

6.63 Government policies relating to planning are given in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). Section 16 (paragraphs 189 – 208) of the NPPF (Conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment) outlines policies relating to the historic environment and the key role it 
plays in the Government’s definition of sustainable development, the principle which underpins 
the document. 
 

Page 51



6.64 The NPPF requires that local planning authorities ‘should set out in their Local Plan a positive 
strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment’, recognising that 
‘heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource’ and should be conserved ‘in a manner 
appropriate to their significance’. 
 

6.65 The NPPF requires that planning applicants should ‘describe the significance of any heritage 
assets affected’ by their application, ‘including any contribution made by their setting’.  
Specifically, the NPPF states the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In 
weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 
 

6.66 Place Services (Heritage) have identified the following on-site structures as non-designated 
heritage assets; 
 
- Hamilton Lodge; 
- Associated stable block; 
- Associated walled garden; and 
- Associated gate lodge. 
 

6.67 These structures are not designated heritage assets. They are not included on the National 
Heritage List for England, nor are they in a conservation area. However, they have been 
identified by the Place Services as non-designated built heritage assets. 
 

6.68 Consequently, following on-site discussions the application has been amended to include the 
retention and conversion of these buildings for residential purposes. 
 

6.69 The revised principles have been developed and involve an improved design response 
including:  
 
- Incorporation of the non-designated built heritage assets on the site, including their 

adaptive re-use;  
- An outline strategy for the integration, re-use and alteration of these built heritage assets;  
- An urban design strategy for the proposed new residential development in the setting of 

the non-designated built heritage assets. This will retain key elements of the site that 
contribute to the significance of the heritage assets. These include:  

 
- Retention of the ha-ha associated with Hamilton Lodge;  
- Providing a landscape buffer between the ha-ha and Hamilton Lodge; 
- Retaining partial views towards Hamilton Lodge through the tree line; 
- Retaining the woodland and pond to the south of Hamilton Lodge;  
- Low density development to the area in front of the ha-ha;  
- Redefining the courtyard to the rear of the site, and ensuring its continued use;  
- Creating a courtyard style development within the walled garden, subservient to the garden 

wall and stable block; and 
- Creating a new entrance to the walled garden framed by appropriate new built form.  
 

6.70 As a result of these revisions to the development masterplan Place Services support this 
application on the assumption that, in the event of an approval, a robust legal agreement is put 
in place to safeguard the future of the heritage assets as part of this development.   
 
Ecology Matters 
 

6.71 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF requires Councils, when determining planning applications, to 
minimise impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Where significant harm to 
biodiversity cannot be avoided, mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated for, Councils 

Page 52



should refuse planning permission. Saved policies EN6 of the adopted Local Plan and 
emerging policy PPL4 of the emerging Local Plan give special protection to designated sites of 
international, national or local importance to nature conservation but for non-designated sites 
still require impacts on biodiversity to be considered and thereafter minimised, mitigated or 
compensated for. 
 

6.72 An Ecological Impact Assessment has been submitted by the applicants and assessed by 
ECC-Place Services. Place Services conclude that there is sufficient ecological information 
available for determination which provides certainty for the Council of the likely impacts on 
protected and Priority species & habitats. 
 

6.73 The comments of Place Services outline the following; 
 
- The site supports six pipistrelle day roosts in buildings, two pipistrelle day roosts in trees, 

two Brown Long-eared (BLE) hibernation roosts in buildings, a BLE day roost in a building 
and a BLE maternity roost which was not used during the 2020 maternity season. 
Therefore, the development will require a European Protected Species (EPS) licence for 
the demolition/conversion of the buildings and removal of trees on site which support 
roosting bats. In line with Natural England’s licensing policy 4, we are satisfied that further 
bat surveys will be needed to support the licence and we recommend that the LPA secures 
a copy of the EPS mitigation licence for bats by a condition of any consent. 

 
- We recommend that all the mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures detailed 

in 
- Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) are secured 

by a condition of any consent and implemented in full for both full and outline elements 
of the development. This will also include soft felling techniques and mitigation 
measures for the trees on site assessed as having bat roost potential, but with no 
roosts identified. 

 
- A European Protected Species mitigation licence for Hazel Dormice will also be 

required from Natural England prior to any vegetation clearance. We also recommend 
that the LPA secures a copy of the EPS mitigation licence for Hazel dormice by a 
condition of any consent. 

 
- The Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) also identifies that a 

‘moderate’ population of Common Lizards has been identified onsite. Section 6 of the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) identifies suitable outline 
mitigation and enhancement measures for this species. The final mitigation, 
translocation and enhancement measures should be included in a Reptile Mitigation 
Strategy to be secured as a condition of any consent. 

 
- We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have 

been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under 
Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. We note that 
Appendix 21 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, October 2020) and that 
identifies the biodiversity enhancement measures proposed for the detailed part of this 
hybrid application including the locations in the Proposed Mitigation and Enhancement 
Plan. 

 
 These requirements would be secured via suitably worded conditions.  

 
6.74 Under Regulations 61 and 62 of the Habitats Regulations, local planning authorities as the 

'competent authority' must have regard for any potential impact that a plan or project might 
have on European designated sites. The application site is not, itself, designated as site of 
international, national or local importance to nature conservation. However, the site lies within 
the Zone of Infuence (ZoI) of the Colne Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar as 

Page 53



defined in the Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 
(RAMS). The residents of new housing are therefore considered likely to regularly visit relevant 
designated sites for recreational purposes. In order to avoid a likely significant effect in terms 
of increased recreational disturbance to Coastal European designated sites (Habitats sites) in 
particular Colne Estuary SPA and Ramsar site, mitigation measures will need to be in place 
prior to occupation. These would be in the form (for schemes of under 100 net additional 
dwellings) of an off-site financial contribution of £127.60 per dwelling. 
 

6.75 Whilst the applicant has confirmed their agreement to payment of this contribution, in the 
absence of a completed Section 106 Agreement such obligations cannot be secured against 
any permission and this will therefore form part of a reason for refusal. 
 
Highway Safety/Parking 
 

6.76 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF requires Councils, when making decisions to ensure: 
 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be, or have been, 
taken up, given the type of development and its location; 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and 
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity 
and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable 
degree. 
 

6.77 Saved policy TR1a in the adopted Local Plan requires that development affecting highways be 
considered in relation to reducing and preventing hazards and inconvenience to traffic 
including the capacity of the road network. Policy CP1 in the emerging Local Plan states that 
developments will only be acceptable if the additional vehicular movements likely to result from 
the development can be accommodated within the capacity of the existing or improved 
highway network or would not lead to an unacceptable increase in congestion. 
 

6.78 The development proposes the construction of a new access approximately 30 metres to the 
south of the existing access onto Parsons Hill, and the existing access will be stopped up. To 
support the new access proposals a Road Safety Audit has been provided in conjunction with 
a detailed highway visibility plan and plans outlining required highway infrastructure 
improvements including new bus stops in the vicinity of the site and new associated footpaths. 

 
6.79 The existing access to the site is clearly not suitable to serve a residential development of the 

scale proposed. Consequently, the new access and associated highway improvement works 
have been designed and assessed through a Road Safety Audit that has been reviewed by 
Essex County Council Highways. Therefore, they have confirmed that they have no objection 
to the development subject to the following requirements being secured; 
 

- The submission of a Construction Management Plan 
- No occupation of the development taking place until the following have been provided 

or completed: 
 
a) A priority junction off Parsons Hill to provide access to the proposed site as shown in 
principle on planning application, drawing number: 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
b) The road junction at its centre line shall be provided with a minimum clear to ground visibility 
splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by 92 metres to the north and 2.4 metres by 102 metres to 
the south, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such vehicular 
visibility splays shall be provided before the road junction/access is first used by vehicular 
traffic and retained free of any obstruction at all times. 
c) To current Essex County Council specification, the provision of two bus stops on Parsons 
Hill which would best serve the proposal site (details shall be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of the development) to include but not restricted to shelter 
(x2) with bus stop flag, Kassel Kerbs, and bus timetables. 

Page 54



d) Provision of a 2-metre-wide footway either side of the new junction and across the entire 
site frontage as shown in principle with drawing no. 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
e) Provision of a 2-metre-wide footway on the south-west side of Parsons Hill to provide a 
pedestrian link from the development to the Village Hall and bus stop as shown in principle 
with drawing no. 20066-100 Rev. A4. 
 

- A financial contribution of £20,000 (index linked) towards the design and/or delivery of 
the upgrade of the traffic signals at the A133 Main Road/Colchester Road/B1029 
Great Bentley Road/Bromley Road junction, Frating.  Such contribution to be paid on 
commencement of development. 

- No discharge of surface water onto the Highway. 
- Any new boundary planting shall be planted a minimum of 1 metre back from the 

highway boundary and any visibility splay. 
- Vehicular and cycle parking provision being provided prior the first occupation of the 

relevant residential use.  
- The submission of a residential travel plan 

 
6.80 The above requirements can either be secured via planning conditions or through a legal 

agreement. Therefore in the absence of a completed legal agreement the failure to secure the 
above contribution to provide upgraded traffic signals, will form part of the reasons for refusal. 
 
Drainage/Foul Drainage 
 

6.81 Paragraph 159 of the NPPF requires Councils, when determining planning applications, to 
direct development away from areas at highest flood risk. Although the site is in Flood Zone 1 
(low risk), the NPPF, Policy QL3 in the adopted Local Plan and Policy PPL1 in the emerging 
Local Plan still require any development proposal on sites larger than 1 hectare to be 
accompanied by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). This is to assess the potential 
risk of all potential sources of flooding, including surface water flooding that might arise as a 
result of development.  

 
6.82 The applicant has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment which has been considered by Essex 

County Council as the authority for sustainable drainage. The strategy outlines that the 
proposed drainage network shall comprise of a series of carrier pipes, which intercept surface 
water runoff from roofs and paved areas, which then finally discharge to an infiltration 
component. The proposed road network and driveways will drain via a permeable pavement 
system and infiltrate directly to ground. The surface water drainage network has been 
designed for all storms up to and including the 1 in 30-year storm event with controlled 
ponding to the surrounding car park area in the 1 in 100-year storm plus a 40% allowance for 
climate change. 

 
6.83 ECC have reviewed this strategy and have no objections subject to conditions being applied to 

any approval securing further details as to the precise nature of the drainage strategy, 
maintenance details and measures to mitigation against flooding/pollution during construction. 

 
6.84 In terms of foul drainage the proposed development will discharge foul water flows via the 

existing foul water connection into the 150mm diameter foul water public sewer within the 
adjacent field to the west. The proposed drainage network shall comprise of a series of carrier 
pipes that will drain by gravity to independent foul water package pumping stations located 
within both Phase 1 and Phase 2. Anglian Water has commented upon the application, and 
confirm the foul drainage from the development is in the catchment of Great Bromley Water 
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for flows from this site.  

 
6.85 Based on the details contained within the FRA and Drainage Report, it is considered that the 

application site could be developed in the manner proposed without any risk of flooding from or 
to the proposed development compliant with the aims and objectives of the NPPF as well as 
Local Plan Policies set out above. 

Page 55



 
Legal Obligations/Viability 
 

6.86 Policy COM6 in the adopted Local Plan and Policy HP4 of the emerging Local Plan require 
large residential developments to provide at least 10% of land as public open space or 
otherwise make financial contributions toward off-site provision.  

 
6.87 The Council's Open Space Team has commented on the application and has identified a 

deficit of equipped play and formal open space in Great Bromley Parish.  
 
6.88 The application does include formal and informal open space, however for a development of 

this size the Open Spaces Team have confirmed that they would expect to see some provision 
for play to be included on-site, ideally made from natural materials and following the contours 
of the land. If minded to approve the play provision would be secured via condition or at 
reserved matters stage.  

 
6.89 As the on-site open space (and play provision) is to be transferred to Great Bromley Parish 

Council for future maintenance, an additional financial contribution towards maintenance will 
also need to be secured through a Section 106 legal agreement. If the Council were minded to 
approve this application, Officers would engage in negotiations with the applicant to agree the 
necessary requirements in line with the guidance contained within the Council's 
Supplementary Planning Document on Open Space.   

 
6.90 However, as the application is recommended for refusal, the lack of a Section 106 Agreement 

to secure the on-site play provision and future maintenance of the open space (excluding 
areas including SUDs features) will be included as a reason for refusal, to ensure that this 
matter is properly addressed if the applicant decides to appeal in the event of a refusal.  
 
Council Housing/Affordable Housing 
 

6.91 Policy HG4 in the adopted Local Plan requires large residential developments to provide 40% 
of new dwellings as affordable housing for people who cannot otherwise afford to buy or rent 
on the open market. Policy LP5 in the emerging Local Plan, which is based on more up to date 
evidence on viability, requires 30% of new dwellings on large sites to be made available for 
affordable or Council Housing.  

 
6.92 If members are minded to approve this application, up to 24 of the proposed properties would 

need to be secured for affordable housing purposes through a Section 106 legal agreement 
and the applicant has indicated that they would be willing to provide the full policy-compliant 
contribution of affordable housing. However, as the application is to be refused, the lack of a 
Section 106 Agreement to secure the necessary level of affordable housing will be included as 
a reason for refusal, to ensure that this matter is properly addressed if the applicant decides to 
appeal in the event of a refusal.  
 
Education Provision 
 

6.93 Policy QL12 in the adopted Local Plan and Policy PP12 in the emerging Local Plan require 
that new development is supported by the necessary infrastructure which includes education 
and library provision.  

 
6.94 Essex County Council as the Local Education Authority has been consulted on the planning 

application and has made representations. ECC advised that, based on its standard formula, a 
development of this size can be expected to generate the need for up to 7.11 Early Years and 
Childcare (EY&C) places; 23.7 primary school, and 15.8 secondary school places.  

 
6.95 ECC state that there are sufficient EY&C and Secondary School places available in the local 

area and as such a contribution in this respect will not be required.  
Page 56



 
6.96 However, on the basis that there are insufficient places to meet the needs of this development 

in respect of Primary provision, ECC has requested a financial contribution of £486,040 for 

primary school places. They have also requested £104,728 for secondary school transport 
provision and £25,494.88 towards the provision of a library services in the area. The total 
contribution requested by ECC-Education is therefore £616,262.88. 

 
6.97 As the application is to be refused, the lack of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the 

necessary education specific contributions will be included as a reason for refusal, to ensure 
this matter is properly addressed if the applicant decides to appeal in the event of a refusal.  
 
Healthcare Provision 
 

6.98 NHS CCG have confirmed that as it stands currently the impacted practice/practices are not 
over capacity therefore they will not be seeking a healthcare contribution at this stage. 

 
6.99 In conclusion, the developer has agreed to the contributions/legal obligations outlined above 

and has submitted a viability appraisal to demonstrate that these obligations can be provided 
in conjunction with the renovation and conversion of the non-designated heritage assets. The 
viability appraisal also shows that the number of residential units proposed (i.e. 79 units) is 
required to ensure the development is viable. This report has been independently reviewed by 
BNP Paribas who concur with this view.  

 
7. Conclusion/Planning Balance 

 

7.1 Tendring District Local Plan (2007) Policy QL1, which previously set out the spatial strategy 
and defined a hierarchy  of settlements, has been superseded by the adopted Tendring 
District Local Plan Section 1 Policy SP3. Policy SP3 states that new development will be 
accommodated within or adjoining settlements according to their scale, sustainability, and 
existing role both within each individual district and, where relevant, across the wider strategic 
area. Policy SPL2 of the emerging TDLP Section 2 advises that outside the ‘Settlement 
Development Boundaries’ new development will be subject to strict control in relation to the 
Settlement Hierarchy and any other relevant policies in the plan. As such full weight can be 
afforded to Policy SP3 and the proposal’s conflict with it in determining this application. 

 
7.2 In terms of the benefits of the development, the proposal would make a contribution to the 

 supply of housing by the delivery of 79  dwellings, thereby boosting the supply of housing as 
 required by the Framework. However, the Council is able to demonstrate that it has a 5-year 
 supply of deliverable housing sites and  is able to meet its housing need over the plan period 
 of 2013 to 2033. Therefore, although the 5-year supply is not a ‘ceiling’ and the proposal 
 would help to meet the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
 homes, the weight that can be attached to this benefit is reduced below substantial due to the 
 Council already demonstrating that it has sufficient sites for future housing to meet its identified 
 needs. 

 
7.3 The proposal would also have economic benefits by way of the support for construction jobs 

 during the build and demand for supplies and materials. These benefits would together be 
 modest. There would also be the support for services by future occupiers and again this 
 benefit would be modest.  
 

7.4 The applicant has indicated a willingness to deliver, by way of the UU, policy compliant 
 financial contributions for the delivery/maintenance of public open or play space provision 
 and education contributions. However, this is a requirement to make the development 
 acceptable and is not a benefit  that weighs in the balance. Similarly, other matters where no 
 material harm has been  identified, are neutral in the planning balance.  

 

Page 57



7.5 The applicant has confirmed acceptance to provide the policy required 30% affordable housing 
 provision. The housing department has identified that there is a high demand for affordable 
 housing in the area. There is therefore a need for affordable housing to be delivered on site 
 and the proposal would make a significant contribution to the Council meeting its objectively 
 assessed need for affordable housing in the District. Therefore, this benefit can be given 
 moderate weight as there is a high demand for affordable housing in the district.  
 

7.6 In terms of the non-designated heritage assets and their conversion and retention, whilst this 
 element of the proposal is welcomed, in the first instance, the lack of a sustained and robust 
 marketing campaign to demonstrate that the site is not in demand for alternative employment 
 uses, as well as the failure to demonstrate that the land and buildings are inherently unsuitable 
 for any form of employment use results in the considered position which is that officers 
 apply moderate weight to this benefit. Whilst the retention of these assets is supported by 
 the Council and  ECC-Place Services the amount of weight that can be given to their retention 
 is also tempered by the  fact that they are not statutory listed buildings and not situated 
 within a designated conservation area.  

 
7.7 It is also acknowledged that the site would have attracted a good amount of vehicular 

 movements associated with its lawful residential institutional use, the provision of a village 
 green and its accessibility to the wider public, as well as the re-development  of a brownfield 
 site which is supported in part by the Framework.  

 
7.8 However, overall, the proposal’s benefits are modest. The Framework places emphasis on 

 managing patterns of growth to support objectives which include opportunities to promote 
 walking, cycling and public transport use, and mitigating any adverse environmental impacts of 
 traffic. 

 
7.9 Development in rural areas is not precluded but the Framework indicates that significant 

 weight should be given to the benefits of using suitable sites within settlements for homes and 
 therefore supports the general thrust of the local plan in terms of location of housing. 

 
7.10 Consequently, the adverse impacts on, and clear conflict with, the Council’s housing strategy 

 and of increasing travel by private motorised transport would significantly and 
 demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
 Framework taken as a whole. The proposal would conflict with the development plan as a 
 whole, and there are no other considerations including the provisions of the Framework 
 which outweigh this finding. 

 
8. Recommendation 

 
8.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to refuse planning permission for the following 

reasons; 
 

 1). For the purposes of the determination of this application the Council can currently 
 demonstrate that a 5 year housing land supply exists. Therefore, paragraph 11d) of the NPPF 
 is not engaged. The policies for the delivery of housing are considered up-to-date and the 
 application must  therefore be determined in accordance with Paragraph 11c) of the NPPF, 
 thus in accordance with the development plan. 
 
 Adopted Policy SP3 (Spatial Strategy for North Essex) of the 2013-2033 Local Plan states, 
 amongst other things, that development will be accommodated within or adjoining settlements, 
 according to their scale, sustainability and existing role both within each individual district and, 
 where relevant, across the wider strategic area. Future growth will be planned to ensure 
 existing settlements maintain their distinctive character and role, to avoid coalescence 
 between them and to conserve their setting. New housing development should be focused 
 towards the larger urban areas and to within settlement development boundaries. This is 
 consistent with the Framework's objectives for achieving sustainable development through a 

Page 58



 plan-led approach that focuses development to locations which are or can be made 
 sustainable, limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes 
 
 As set out above, the policies for the delivery of housing are considered up-to-date and the 
 application must therefore be determined in accordance with Paragraph 11 c) of the NPPF, 
 thus in accordance with the development plan. 
 
 In this instance it is evident that the site is not located within any defined settlement boundary. 
 The site is within the countryside for the purposes of planning policy. The proposal is therefore 
 contrary to adopted policy SP3.  
 
 The main aims of Policy SP3 are to direct growth to those places where a good range of 
 services and facilities are easily accessible by means other than private motorised transport, to 
 reduce the need to travel and to protect the character and appearance of the countryside. 
 
 These polices are consistent with the NPPF objective for achieving sustainable development. 
 This is through a plan-led approach that focuses development to locations which are or can be 
 made sustainable, limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. 
  
 Nearby Great Bromley and Frating are classified as 'Smaller Rural Settlements' in the 
 emerging local  plan, primarily due to the lack of job opportunities, local services, facilities 
 and other  infrastructure. There is also a reliance on neighbouring towns and villages for work, 
 shopping  and other services, often involving car travel. These smaller villages are considered 
 to be the least sustainable locations for growth and therefore only suitable for the provision of 
 a limited amount of additional housing, due to the minimal level of services and facilities they 
 provide.  
 

It is appreciated that opportunities to maximise alternative transport solutions will vary between 
urban and rural areas and it is also acknowledged that the site is previously developed, in a 
rural location, and attracted a certain level of traffic movements under its former care home 
use, but even taking this into account, it is considered that the proposal for 79 dwellings in this 
unsustainable location runs contrary to the objectives of Policy SP3 and is of an inappropriate 
scale, in a countryside location clearly detached from the nearest settlement of Great Bromley, 
which is identified as a smaller rural settlement under emerging policy SPL3.   
 
Moreover, whilst it is acknowledged that the land has been previously developed the site 
essentially comprises of care home/assisted living buildings, areas of hardstanding, grassland 
and parkland around an early 20th Century house. The extent of the combined building 
footprints present on the site equate only to approximately 5% of the total site coverage. 
Whereas the proposed built form will cover a significantly wider area of the site at 
approximately 40-45% of the land. This increase in built form would represent a substantial 
and material change to the character of the site in this essentially rural location. The higher 
and more urban density proposed would evidently be at odds with the prevailing pattern of built 
form in the vicinity, which comprises of loose knit development within large spacious plots 
more akin to the rural character of the locality. As such, the development is in conflict with 
adopted policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond - Section 1 and 
saved policy EN1 of the adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007), which state that all new 
development should reflect the following place shaping principles, where applicable respond 
positively to local character and context to preserve and enhance the quality of existing places 
and their environs and that the quality of the district’s landscape and its distinctive local 
character will be protected and, where possible, enhanced and any development which would 
significantly harm landscape character or quality will not be permitted. 
 
The planned growth for the District to meet housing need has been established. In applying 
the NPPF's presumption in favour of sustainable development, the adverse impacts of the 
proposal both on the Council's ability to manage growth through the plan-led approach, the 
character of the area and the unsustainable location of the site, are not outweighed by any 

Page 59



public benefits or other material considerations that might warrant the proposal being 
considered in an exceptional light. 
 
It is therefore concluded that the site would not be in a suitable location for the proposed 
development having regard to local and national policies concerned with the location of 
development. The proposal would conflict with adopted Policy SP3 and emerging local plan 
Policy SPL1 as the proposal would conflict with the aims of the settlement hierarchy it sets out. 

 
 2). Saved Policy ER3 of the adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007) applies to all land in 
 employment use. This policy states that the Council will ensure that land in, or allocated in this 
 Plan for employment use will normally be retained for that purpose. Its redevelopment or 
 change of use for non-employment purposes will only be permitted if the applicant can 
 demonstrate that it is no longer viable or suitable for any form of employment use. The 
 applicant should either: 
 
 i. submit evidence of a sustained but ultimately unsuccessful marketing exercise, undertaken 
 at a realistic asking price; or 
 ii. show that the land (site, or premises) is inherently unsuitable and/or not viable for any form 
 of employment use 
 
 In this instance the current lawful use of the development site is C2 (Residential Institutional 
 Use/Care Home). This falls to be considered as an employment use and therefore the 
 provisions of saved policy ER3 as outlined above are relevant.  
 
 The application has not been submitted with a sustained and robust marketing campaign to 
 demonstrate that the site is not in demand for alternative employment uses. Nor has it been 
 suitably shown that the land and buildings are inherently unsuitable for any form of 
 employment use.  
 
 A document provided by the applicant seeks to address this matter by stating that the saved 
 policy is of limited weight, that the application site is not specifically allocated for employment 
 use, that marketing took place following the closure of the care home use and that the 
 development of the site does not undermine the policy objectives of safeguarding identified 
 employment sites.  
 
 Officers have reviewed this document and remain of the view that saved policy ER3 is relevant 
 to this application and carries significant weight being that it is a policy contained within the 
 adopted Tendring District Local Plan (2007). The policy evidently states that any employment 
 site, regardless of whether it is allocated or not, is caught by the requirements of this policy.  
 
 Therefore, in the absence of any marketing particulars or robust evidence to show that the site 
 cannot be utilised for any alternative employment uses the application proposals for a 100% 
 residential scheme are considered contrary to the requirements of saved policy ER3. 
 
 3). The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states Local Planning Authorities should 
 consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the 
 use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be sought where 
 they meet all of the following tests: necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
 terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
 to the development.  
  

Saved Policy HG4 of the Tendring District Local Plan (2007) requires up to 40% of new 
dwellings on residential schemes of 5 or more units to be provided in the form of affordable 
housing to meet the needs of people that are unable to access property on the open market. 
Emerging Policy LP5 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication 
Draft (June 2017), which is based on more up-to-date evidence of housing need and viability, 
requires for developments of 10 or more dwellings, the Council expect 30% of new dwellings 

Page 60



to be made available to Tendring District Council or an alternative provider to acquire at a 
discounted value for use as affordable housing, or as an alternative, the Council will accept a 
minimum of 10% if new dwellings are to be made available alongside a financial contribution 
toward the construction or acquisition of property for use as affordable housing (either on the 
site or elsewhere in the district) equivalent to delivering the remainder of the 30% requirement. 
A completed Section 106 has not been provided prior to the application determination date and 
the application is therefore contrary to the above policy.  

  
Saved Policy COM26 of the Tendring District Local Plan states where necessary planning 
permission will only be granted for residential developments of 12 or more dwellings if land 
and/or financial contributions are made to provide the additional school places that will be 
needed to service the development. Emerging Policy PP12 of the Tendring District Local Plan 
2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft (June 2017) states planning permission will not be 
granted for new residential development unless the individual or cumulative impacts of 
development on education provision can be addressed, at the developer's cost, either on-site 
or through financial contributions towards off-site improvements. Essex County Council 
Education Services have identified the need for financial contributions toward primary 
provision and secondary school transport along with a contribution towards library provision. A 
completed Section 106 obligation to secure these contributions has not been provided prior to 
the application determination date and the application is therefore contrary to the above 
policies.   

   
Saved Policy COM6 and emerging Policy HP5 state that for residential development on a site 
of 1.5ha and above, where existing public open space and/or play equipment are inadequate 
shall provide appropriate provision on-site or by way of a financial contribution towards the 
provision of new or improved off-site facilities to meet the projected needs of future occupiers 
of the development. In this case there is likely to be sufficient on-site open space provision to 
meet the Council's requirements. However, there will also be a need to provide play provision 
and if the open space and play provision is to be maintained by the Parish Council then 
provisions/responsibility arrangements will need to be secured through a Section 106 
obligation. Without such provisions being secured the proposals are contrary to the above 
policies. 
 
Paragraph 110 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that safe and suitable access to a development 
site can be achieved for all users. Saved Policy TR1a requires new development to be 
considered in relation to the road hierarchy to reducing and preventing hazards and 
inconvenience to traffic. Policy CP1 in the emerging Local Plan states that developments will 
only be acceptable if the additional vehicular movements likely to result from the development 
can be accommodated within the capacity of the existing or improved highway network or 
would not lead to an unacceptable increase in congestion. 
 
ECC-Highways have confirmed the need for a financial contribution of £20,000 towards the 
design and/or delivery of the upgrade of the traffic signals at the A133 Main Road/ Colchester 
Road/ B1029 Great Bentley Road/ Bromley Road junction, Frating, to protect highway 
efficiency of movement and safety. 
 
Under the Habitats Regulations, a development which is likely to have a significant effect or an 
adverse effect (alone or in combination) on a European designated site must provide 
mitigation or otherwise must satisfy the tests of demonstrating 'no alternatives' and 'reasons of 
overriding public interest'. There is no precedent for a residential development meeting those 
tests, which means that all residential development must provide mitigation. This residential 
development lies within the Zone of Influence of the Essex Coast Recreational disturbance 
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS). The residents of new housing are therefore 
considered likely to regularly visit relevant designated sites for recreation. In this case the 
nearest designated site is the Colne Estuary SPA and Ramsar site and the Essex Estuaries 
SAC. 
 

Page 61



In order to avoid a likely significant effect in terms of increased recreational disturbance to 
coastal European designated sites (Habitats sites) mitigation measures will need to be in place 
prior to occupation. A proportionate financial contribution has not been secured in accordance 
with the Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
requirements and the provisions of adopted policy SP2 (Spatial Strategy for North Essex) of 
Section 1 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan. 
 
A completed Section 106 obligation to secure the relevant contributions towards, RAMS, 
education, highway improvements, open space/play space and affordable housing has not 
been provided and is therefore contrary to the above policies. 
 

8.2 Informatives  
 
Positive and Proactive Statement 
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and discussing those with the 
Applicant. However, the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been 
possible to negotiate a satisfactory way forward and due to the harm which has been clearly 
identified within the reason(s) for the refusal, approval has not been possible. 

 
9. Additional Considerations  

 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

9.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

9.2 A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

9.3 B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
taking steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

9.4 C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

9.5 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

9.6 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not 
impose a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that 
needs to be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

9.7 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

 
Human Rights 

  
9.8 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible 
with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

Page 62



 
9.9 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 

the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

9.10 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with 
local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or 
freedom from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to 
control the use of property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to 
grant permission is considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application 
based on the considerations set out in this report. 

 
Finance Implications 

 
9.11 Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have 

regard in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

9.12 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is one local finance consideration capable of being a material 
consideration to which the weight given shall be determined by the decision maker.  The NHB 
is a payment to local authorities to match the Council Tax of net new dwellings built, paid by 
Central Government over six consecutive years.  In this instance, it is not considered to have 
any significant weight attached to it that would outweigh the other considerations. 

 
10. Background Papers  

 
10.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 

supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the 
application (as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information 
is available to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the 
Council’s Public Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-
applications/. 

 
 

 

Page 63

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

3rd August 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING 
 

A.2 PLANNING APPLICATION – 21/00809/FUL – 102 NAYLAND DRIVE CLACTON ON SEA 
CO16 8TZ  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s 

Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

 

 Page 65

Agenda Item 6



 
Application: 21/00809/FUL Town / Parish: Clacton Non Parished 

 
Applicant: Housing Portfolio Holder - Tendring District Council 

 
Address: 102 Nayland Drive Clacton On Sea Essex CO16 8TZ    

 
 

Development: Proposed single storey rear extension to provide facilities for disabled person.  
 

 
1.  Executive Summary 

  
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the applicant is Tendring District 

Council. 
 

1.2 The application involves a single storey ground floor rear extension to the existing 
dwellinghouse at 102 Nayland Drive which is inside the settlement boundary of Clacton. 

 
1.3 The proposal, through a number of internal alterations, seeks to convert the ground floor of 

the property for use by someone with limited mobility.  In doing this, the existing sitting room 
would become a bedroom with en-suite facilities and the rear extension is proposed to 
provide a sitting room with ramped access from the rear garden. 

 
1.4 The proposal will not result in harm to the host dwelling or wider streetscene in general in 

regards to the siting, scale or external appearance of the development, nor any material 
harm to residential amenity nor highway safety.  

 
 
Recommendation: 
    

That the Head of Planning be authorised to grant planning permission for the development 
subject to the conditions stated in section 8.2. 

 
2. Planning Policy 

 

2.1 The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 

 This planning application was first submitted when the NPPF - National Planning Policy 
Framework February 2019 was in place. During the LPA assessment phase of the 
development proposals, a revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF 2021) was published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) with revisions to both the NPPF and National Model Design Guide 
(NMDG), following consultation in January 2021. Among the key changes to the NPPF are 
updated policies aiming to improve the design of new developments, in response to the 
findings of the government's Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission.  Due regard is 
given to both the NPPF 2019 as well as the NPPF 2021 (collectively referred to as the 
‘NPPF’ in the remainder of this report) and as part of the assessment of this planning 
application. 

 
NPPF  National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Relevant Section 1 Policies (adopted) 

Page 66



 
SP1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 
SP3  Spatial Strategy for North Essex 
 
SP7  Place Shaping Principles 
 
Local Planning Guidance 
 
Essex Design Guide 
 
Essex County Council Car Parking Standards - Design and Good Practice 

 
Status of the Local Plan 

 
2.2 The ‘development plan’ for Tendring is the 2007 ‘adopted’ Local Plan. Paragraph 213 of the 

NPPF (2019) allows local planning authorities to give due weight to adopted albeit outdated 
policies according to their degree of consistency with the policies in the NPPF. Paragraph 
48 of the NPPF also allows weight to be given to policies in emerging plans according to 
their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies and the degree of consistency with national policy. In this latter regard, as of 26 th 
January 2021, ‘Section 1’ of the emerging Local Plan for Tendring (Tendring District Local 
Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft) has been adopted and forms part of the 
‘development plan’ for Tendring. 

 
2.3 Section 1 of the Local Plan (which sets out the strategy for growth across North Essex 

including Tendring, Colchester and Braintree) has been examined by an Independent 
Planning Inspector who issued his final report and recommended ‘main modifications’ on 
10th December 2020. The Inspector’s report confirms that, subject to making his 
recommended main modifications (including the removal from the plan of two of the three 
‘Garden Communities’ proposed along the A120 i.e. those to the West of Braintree and on 
the Colchester/Braintree Border), the plan is legally compliant and sound and can proceed 
to adoption. Notably, the housing and employment targets in the plan have been confirmed 
as sound, including the housing requirement of 550 dwellings per annum in Tendring.  

 
2.4 The Council has now formally adopted Section 1 of the Local Plan, in its modified state, at 

the meeting of Full Council on 26th January 2021, at which point it became part of the 
development plan and carries full weight in the determination of planning applications – 
superseding, in part, some of the more strategic policies in the 2007 adopted plan.   

 
2.5 The examination of Section 2 of the Local Plan (which contains more specific policies and 

proposals for Tendring) will proceed in early 2021 and two Inspectors have been appointed 
by the Secretary of State to undertake the examination, with the Council preparing and 
updating its documents ready for the examination. In time, the Section 2 Local Plan (once 
examined and adopted in its own right) will join the Section 1 Plan as part of the 
development plan, superseding in full the 2007 adopted plan.   

 
2.6 The confirmation from the Inspectors that the Section 2 Local Plan can progress to the next 

stage of the process is a positive step in the plan-making process that allows the Council to 
increase further the weight that can be given to the emerging Local Plan when determining 
planning applications – particularly those policies where either no changes are being 
recommended or where the changes are relatively subtle. However, where policies are the 
subject of main modifications that represent a material change in approach, it will be 
necessary for decision makers, whether Officers or Planning Committee members, to 
carefully consider how much weight can sensibly be applied to both those policies and the 

Page 67



modifications given that the modifications are recommendations and are still subject to 
consultation and potential further changes ahead of the Council’s final decision to adopt.  

 
2.7 Where emerging policies are particularly relevant to a planning application and can be 

given weight in line with the principles set out in paragraph 48 of the NPPF, they will be 
considered and, where appropriate, referred to in decision notices.  

 
 

3. Relevant Planning History 

   
21/00809/FUL Proposed single storey rear 

extension to provide facilities for 
disabled person. 

Current 
 

 

 
 

4. Consultations 
 

4.1 Due to the nature of the development consultations with neither internal nor external 
consultants were deemed necessary. 

 
5. Representations 

 
5.1 Letters were sent to the occupiers of adjoining properties on 24th May 2021 and a site 

notice was displayed on 11th June 2021. No representations have been received. 
 
6. Assessment 

 
  Site Context 
 
6.1 The application site is an end-of-terrace property comprising four dwellings. 

 
6.2 Development in the locale typically comprises mid-nineteenth century high-density terraces 

of four/five dwellings or three storey flatted developments.  Directly opposite the application 
site is the entrance to Ravens Academy - a mainstream, state funded junior school. 
 

6.3 Properties are finished typically in a textured render and some properties are self-coloured 
in muted tones. 
 

6.4 Within the site’s terrace two of the four dwellings have small enclosed porch entrances – 
these are the exception to the norm within what is a very uniform estate layout. 
 

6.5 Off-street parking is typically forward of the façade and some dwellings have erected low-
key boundary fences. 
 

6.6 To the north (side) of the property a public footpath links to a public playground.  
 

6.7 The site is located deep within the settlement boundary of Clacton 
 

Planning History 
 

6.8 There is no planning history for the site as it remains as originally constructed.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Proposal 
 

6.9 This application seeks planning permission for adaptations to the dwelling for a mobility-
impaired person; these adaptations include a single-storey rear extension.  All other 
adaptations are internal and do not amount to operational development. 
 
Principle of Development 
 

6.10 The site is located within the Development Boundary therefore there is no ‘in principle’ 
objection to the proposal, subject to the detailed considerations discussed below. 
 
Design & Appearance 
 

6.11 Adopted Policy SP7 of the 2013-33 Local Plan seeks high standards of urban and 
architectural design which responds positively to local character and context.  Emerging 
Policy SPL3 of Section 2 of the 2013-33 Local Plan also requires, amongst other things, 
that the development respects or enhances local landscape character, views, skylines, 
landmarks, existing street patterns, open spaces and other locally important features.  
Paragraph 127 of the Framework requires that developments are visually attractive as a 
result of good architecture, are sympathetic to local character, and establish or maintain a 
strong sense of place. 
 

6.12 The proposed extension is simple in form, being 6m deep in its rearward projection and 
4.2m wide.  It would run parallel to the boundary with its attached neighbour, 104 Nayland 
Drive.  It would have a flat roof with an overall height of approximately 2.8m and it would be 
finished externally in render to match the host dwelling. 
 

6.13 The extension is of a scale and external appearance which relates satisfactorily to the host 
dwelling and wider streetscene in general. 
 

Highway Safety/Parking  
 

6.14 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that safe and suitable access to a 
development site can be achieved for all users. These objectives are supported adopted 
Policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft 
2017. 
 

6.15 The property benefits from two off-street parking spaces.  The proposal does not generate 
any additional requirement for parking places, nor does it cause the loss of any existing 
parking spaces. 
 

Impact to Neighbouring Amenities 

 

6.16 The NPPF, at paragraph 130 states that planning should always seek to secure a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Adopted 
Policy SP7 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft 
(June 2017) requires that all new development protects the amenity of existing and future 
residents and users with regard to noise, vibration, smell, loss of light, overbearing and 
overlooking. 
 

6.17 The dwelling has one attached neighbour; the proposed extension would be to the north of 
their garden.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the extension is quite large with regard to its 
rearwards projection, the existing boundary treatment is in the region of 2m high and the 
extension would be only 0.8m higher than this.  For these reasons, the development will not 
have a materially damaging impact on the privacy, daylight or other amenities of occupiers 
of nearby properties. 

Page 69



 
7. Conclusion 

 
7.1. Overall the proposal represents development which respects the scale, design and siting of 

the host dwelling, whilst also meeting the particular needs of the mobility impaired resident. 
The proposal would retain a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants 
of land and buildings, both of the application site and surrounding dwellings; and finally, the 
proposal does not generate a need for additional off-street car parking. 
 

8. Recommendation 
 

8.1 The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the 
following conditions and informatives. 

 
8.2 Conditions and Reasons 

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plan:-  A2021/11/01; received 4th May 2021. 
  
 Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
8.3 Informatives  

 
Application Approved Without Amendment 
  
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 
policies and any representations that may have been received and subsequently 
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
 

9. Additional Considerations  
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

9.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the 
need in discharging its functions to: 

 
A.  Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act; 
B.  Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages 
suffered by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to 
that characteristic; taking steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected 
characteristic; encouraging participation in public life (or other areas where they are 
underrepresented) of people with a protected characteristic(s); and 

C.  Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 

Page 70



 
9.2 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 

maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and 
ethnic or national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
9.3 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not 

impose a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor 
that needs to be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 

 
9.4 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 

disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 
 
Human Rights 
  

9.5 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 
may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible 
with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
9.6 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 

of the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from 
discrimination).  

 
9.7 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with 

local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or 
freedom from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to 
control the use of property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation 
to grant permission is considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted 
application based on the considerations set out in this report. 

 
 Finance Implications 

 
9.8 Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have 

regard in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

10. Background Papers  

 
10.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 

supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the 
application (as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such 
information is available to view on the planning file using the application reference number 
via the Council’s Public Access system by following this link 
https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/. 

Page 71

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

3rd August 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING 
 

A.3 PLANNING APPLICATION – 21/01028/FUL – 24 BAY VIEW CRESCENT LITTLE 
OAKLEY HARWICH CO12 5EG 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO NOT SCALE  
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s 

Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



 
Application: 21/01028/FUL Town / Parish: Little Oakley Parish Council 

 
Applicant: Mr Connor Smith 

 
Address: 24 Bay View Crescent Little Oakley Harwich Essex CO12 5EG   

 
 

Development: Erection of single storey rear extension to ground floor flat.  
 

 
1. Executive Summary 

  
1.1 The application is before Members as an Ownership Certificate has been served on Tendring 

District Council as they own the freehold of the flats.  
 

1.2 The proposed extension will be located to the rear of the property and will be largely shielded 
from the streetscene by the existing dwelling.  The extension is of a single storey nature and is 
considered to be of a size and scale appropriate to the existing dwelling with the application 
site retaining adequate private amenity space. The use of matching materials will blend the 
development with the host dwelling and is not thought to have any significant adverse effect on 
visual amenity. 

 
1.3 The proposed rear extension does not result in any significant loss of light or undue loss of 

privacy to the adjacent (and above) neighbouring properties and is considered to be 
acceptable in terms of residential amenities.   

 
  
Recommendation: 
    

That the Head of Planning be authorised to grant planning permission for the development 
subject to:-  
 

a) Subject to the conditions stated in section 8.2 
 

 
2. Planning Policy 

 

 The following Local and National Planning Policies are relevant to this planning application. 
 

This planning application was first submitted when the NPPF - National Planning Policy 
Framework February 2019 was in place. During the LPA assessment phase of the development 
proposals, a revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) was 
published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) with 
revisions to both the NPPF and National Model Design Guide (NMDG), following consultation in 
January 2021. Among the key changes to the NPPF are updated policies aiming to improve the 
design of new developments, in response to the findings of the government's Building Better, 
Building Beautiful Commission.  Due regard is given to both the NPPF 2019 as well as the NPPF 
2021 (collectively referred to as the ‘NPPF’ in the remainder of this report) and as part of the 
assessment of this planning application. 

 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance 

 
Adopted Tendring District Local Plan 2007 (part superseded) 

 

Page 74



QL11 Environmental Impacts and Compatibility of Uses (part superseded) 
 

HG9  Private Amenity Spaces 
 

Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication Draft (June 2017) (Section 1 
adopted on 26th January 2021) 

 
Relevant Section 1 Policies (adopted) 

 
SP7  Place Shaping Principles 

 
Relevant Section 2 Policies (emerging) 

 
SPL3 Sustainable Design 

 
Local Planning Guidance 

 
Essex Design Guide 

 
Status of the Local Plan 

 
The ‘development plan’ for Tendring is the 2007 ‘adopted’ Local Plan. Paragraph 213 of the NPPF 
(2019) allows local planning authorities to give due weight to adopted albeit outdated policies 
according to their degree of consistency with the policies in the NPPF. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF 
also allows weight to be given to policies in emerging plans according to their stage of preparation, 
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies and the degree of 
consistency with national policy. In this latter regard, as of  26th January 2021, ‘Section 1’ of the 
emerging Local Plan for Tendring (Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Publication 
Draft) has been adopted and forms part of the ‘development plan’ for Tendring. 

 
Section 1 of the Local Plan (which sets out the strategy for growth across North Essex including 
Tendring, Colchester and Braintree) has been examined by an Independent Planning Inspector 
who issued his final report and recommended ‘main modifications’ on 10th December 2020. The 
Inspector’s report confirms that, subject to making his recommended main modifications (including 
the removal from the plan of two of the three ‘Garden Communities’ proposed along the A120 i.e. 
those to the West of Braintree and on the Colchester/Braintree Border), the plan is legally 
compliant and sound and can proceed to adoption. Notably, the housing and employment targets 
in the plan have been confirmed as sound, including the housing requirement of 550 dwellings per 
annum in Tendring.  
 
The Council has now formally adopted Section 1 of the Local Plan, in its modified state, at the 
meeting of Full Council on 26th January 2021, at which point it became part of the development 
plan and carries full weight in the determination of planning applications – superseding, in part, 
some of the more strategic policies in the 2007 adopted plan.   

 
The examination of Section 2 of the Local Plan (which contains more specific policies and 
proposals for Tendring) will proceed in early 2021 and two Inspectors have been appointed by the 
Secretary of State to undertake the examination, with the Council preparing and updating its 
documents ready for the examination. In time, the Section 2 Local Plan (once examined and 
adopted in its own right) will join the Section 1 Plan as part of the development plan, superseding 
in full the 2007 adopted plan.   
 
The confirmation from the Inspectors that the Section 2 Local Plan can progress to the next stage 
of the process is a positive step in the plan-making process that allows the Council to increase 
further the weight that can be given to the emerging Local Plan when determining planning 
applications – particularly those policies where either no changes are being recommended or 

Page 75



where the changes are relatively subtle. However, where policies are the subject of main 
modifications that represent a material change in approach, it will be necessary for decision 
makers, whether Officers or Planning Committee members, to carefully consider how much weight 
can sensibly be applied to both those policies and the modifications given that the modifications 
are recommendations and are still subject to consultation and potential further changes ahead of 
the Council’s final decision to adopt.  
 
Where emerging policies are particularly relevant to a planning application and can be given weight 
in line with the principles set out in paragraph 48 of the NPPF, they will be considered and, where 
appropriate, referred to in decision notices.  

 
3. Relevant Planning History 

   
21/01028/FUL Erection of single storey rear 

extension to ground floor flat. 
Current 
 

 

4. Consultations 

 
Not applicable to this application.  

 

  
5. Representations 

  
5.1  Little Oakley Parish Council have a “neutral” view on the application. 

 
5.2  It has been noted that the Council own the free hold of the premises with the occupants 

 owning the leasehold via a mortgage agreement.   
 
  Assessment 

 
5.3  Site Context 
  The application site comprises of a ground floor flat located within a two storey semi-detached 
  building in Bayview Crescent. The building is finished in red brick with a tile hung roof. The  
  buildings themselves are set back from the road with an area of open space to the front  
  obscuring views of the dwellings from the highway.  

 
5.4  There is an area of private amenity to the rear which has been split into two sections for the 

 ground floor and first floor flat. The occupants also have shared access of an existing 
 outbuilding.  

 
5.5  Sited to the west is a two storey building which joins the host dwelling. This neighbouring site 

 also comprises of a ground floor and first floor flat with walling and fencing positioned along 
 the shared boundaries. 

 
5.6  Sited to the east of the site there is an existing garage block with associated parking. This 

 boundary comprises of fencing.  
 

5.7  The site is located within the development boundary.  
 

5.8  Proposal 
This application seeks permission for the erection of single storey rear extension to the ground 
floor flat 4m in depth, 7.3m in width and 2.6m in height. The proposed extension will be 
constructed from brickwork which will be similar in appearance to the host dwelling and will 
have a felt roof.  Situated within the roof will be two rooflights which will protrude slightly 
beyond the roof plane.  
 

5.9  The plans have since been amended at the applicants request to show bi-fold doors to the rear 
 elevation and two roof lights.  

Page 76



 
5.10  Principle of Development 

 The principal of the development is considered acceptable as the proposal simply seeks to 
 extend and improve the host dwelling. The main considerations are the design and impact of 
 the proposal to neighbouring dwellings.  

 
5.11  Appearance, Design and Impact to Visual Amenity  

The proposed extension will be predominantly to the rear, however in the absence of 
neighbouring dwellings to the east will be publicly visible from the neighbouring garage block. 
Although there will be some views of the proposal these are likely to be limited due to its 
distance from the sites boundaries and partial screening by way of the host dwelling and 
existing boundary fencing.  
 

5.12  It is also noted that there is a vast amount of existing planting sited along the footway of 
 “Baytree Crescent” which will screen views from this angle.  

 
5.13  The proposal is of an appropriate design and scale in relation to the building and will be 

 finished in materials which are similar in appearance to the existing.  
 

5.14  The site is of a sufficient size to accommodate the proposal and still retain sufficient private 
 amenity space in line with the requirements of saved policy HG9.  

 
5.15  The proposed extension is therefore a suitable addition to the existing flat block which would 

 not detract from the overall appearance and character of the building or area more generally.  
 

5.16  Impact on Residential Amenity  
 Sited to the east is a garage block and no residential neighbouring dwellings.  

 
5.17  The existing site is a ground floor flat with a neighbouring flat at first floor and sited to the 

 east the adjoining two storey property also comprises of flats at ground floor and first floor.  
 

5.18  The proposal will be visible from the first floor flats windows, however due to the single storey 
 design and nature the proposal would not result in a loss of residential amenities to the 
 neighbouring flats at first floor level. It is also noted that as the garden areas are sectioned off 
 for each flat meaning that it would not result in an impact to any of these neighbours gardens.  

 
5.19  The proposal will be visible to the neighbouring ground floor flat as this neighbouring dwelling 

 has a number of openings sited along its rear elevation. Sited along this shared boundary is a 
 section of boundary walling which then extends to boundary fencing. The nearest openings
 comprise of a small window and door which currently have clear views onto the existing 
 boundary wall and fencing. The proposed extension will be largely screened by the existing 
 wall and fencing with only very  minor elements being visible to this neighbour preventing it 
 from resulting in a significant loss of light and outlook to this neighbouring dwelling.  

 
5.20  The proposal is absent from any side facing windows and will therefore not result in a loss of 

 privacy to this neighbour.  
 

6. Conclusion 
 

6.1  It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with the national and local policies listed 
above and in the absence from material harm resulting from the development is recommended 
for approval.  

 
 
 
 

Page 77



7. Recommendation 
 

7.1  The Planning Committee is recommended to grant planning permission subject to the 
 following conditions and informatives. 

 

7.2 Conditions and Reasons 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plan: 2101.3/B. .  
  
 Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
7.3 Informatives  

 
Positive and Proactive Statement   
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 
policies and any representations that may have been received and subsequently determining 
to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. Additional Considerations  

 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 

8.1 In making your decision you must have regard to the PSED under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (as amended). This means that the Council must have due regard to the need in 
discharging its functions to: 
 

8.2 A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

8.3 B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
taking steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging 
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a 
protected characteristic(s); and 

8.4 C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. 
 

8.5 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, being married or in a civil partnership, race including colour, nationality and ethnic or 
national origin, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

8.6 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not 
impose a duty to achieve the outcomes in section 149 and section 149 is only one factor that 
needs to be considered, and may be balanced against other relevant factors. 
 

8.7 It is considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case would not have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic. 

Page 78



 
 
Human Rights 

  
8.8 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that 

may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998 (as amended). Under the Act, it is unlawful for a 
public authority such as the Tendring District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible 
with the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

8.9 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 (right to freedom from discrimination).  
 

8.10 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with 
local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence or 
freedom from discrimination except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to 
control the use of property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation to 
grant permission is considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application 
based on the considerations set out in this report. 

 
Finance Implications 

 
8.11 Local finance considerations are a matter to which local planning authorities are to have 

regard in determining planning applications, as far as they are material to the application. 
 

9. Background Papers  

 
9.1 In making this recommendation, officers have considered all plans, documents, reports and 

supporting information submitted with the application together with any amended 
documentation. Additional information considered relevant to the assessment of the 
application (as referenced within the report) also form background papers. All such information 
is available to view on the planning file using the application reference number via the 
Council’s Public Access system by following this link https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-
applications/. 

 

 
 

Page 79

https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://idox.tendringdc.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	5 A.1 PLANNING APPLICATION 20/00547/OUT – HAMILTON LODGE, PARSONS HILL, GREAT BROMLEY, COLCHESTER CO7 7JB
	6 A.2 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/00809/FUL – 102 NAYLAND DRIVE, CLACTON ON SEA CO16 8TZ
	7 A.3 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/01028/FUL – 24 BAY VIEW CRESCENT, LITTLE OAKLEY, HARWICH CO12 5EG

